UNIVERSITETET I OSLO

# Growth and Aggressiveness in Clinically Non-Functioning Pituitary Adenomas

Dissertation Submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy



Kristin Astrid Berland Øystese

Section of Specialized Endocrinology

Division of Medicine, Oslo University Hospital &

Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo,

Oslo, Norway

#### © Kristin Astrid Berland Øystese, 2018

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo

ISBN 978-82-8377-243-2

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Hanne Baadsgaard Utigard. Print production: Reprosentralen, University of Oslo.

# **Contents**

| Acknowledgements  |  |  |
|---|--|--|
| Selected abbreviations  |  |  |
| List of publications  |  |  |
| Paper 1   |  |  |
| Paper 2   |  |  |
| Paper 3   |  |  |
| Paper 4   |  |  |
| Background9   |  |  |
| The pituitary gland9  |  |  |
| Pituitary adenomas10  |  |  |
| Classification of clinically NFPAs11                                      |  |  |
| Clinical classification12   |  |  |
| Radiological classification12   |  |  |
| Immunopathological classification14                                       |  |  |
| Transcription factors14   |  |  |
| Proliferation markers and malignancy15                                    |  |  |
| Growth and aggressiveness of clinically NFPAs15                           |  |  |
| Growth dynamics16   |  |  |
| Somatostatin, Oestrogen and Progesterone Receptors                        |  |  |
| Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition (EMT)                                |  |  |
| Knowledge gap   |  |  |
| Aims of the study   |  |  |
| Summary of results  |  |  |
| Paper 1: Selection and validation of reliable reference genes for RT-qPCR |  |  |
| analysis in a large cohort of pituitary adenomas24                        |  |  |

| Paper 2: Early postoperative growth in non-functioning pituitary adenomas. A tool to tailor safe follow-up | . 26 |
|--|------|
| Paper 3: Estrogen Receptor $\alpha$ : a Sex-Dependent Predictor of   |      |
| Aggressiveness in Nonfunctioning Pituitary Adenomas: SSTR and Sex  |      |
| Hormone Receptor Distribution in NFPA  | . 27 |
| Paper 4: The Role of E- and N-cadherin in the postoperative course of                                      |      |
| Gonadotroph Pituitary Adenomas   | . 28 |
| Discussion   | . 29 |
| Methodological Considerations  | . 29 |
| Design and patient population  | . 29 |
| Immunohistochemistry   | . 33 |
| Sub classification of tumours  | . 35 |
| Detection of target proteins   | . 36 |
| Growth curve modelling   | . 38 |
| Volume Measurements  | . 38 |
| Growth curves  | . 40 |
| Tumour volume doubling time  | . 42 |
| Discussion of main findings  | . 44 |
| Reference genes in Pituitary Adenomas; Paper 1   | . 44 |
| Growth rate and growth curves in clinically NFPAs, Paper 2   | . 46 |
| Somatostatin, Oestrogen and Progesterone receptor distribution in clinically NFPAs, Paper 3                | . 52 |
| E-cadherin and N-cadherin in Gonadotroph adenomas, Paper 4   | . 57 |
| Limitations  | . 62 |
| Main Conclusions   | . 65 |
| Future perspectives  | . 66 |
| References   | . 68 |
| Papers 1-4   | . 85 |
| -  |      |

#### **Acknowledgements**

The studies that this thesis are based on were carried out between 2014-2017 at the Section of Specialized Endocrinology, Oslo University Hospital, in collaboration with the Research Institute of Internal Medicine and pathologist Olivera Casar-Borota at the Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology, Uppsala University. I am grateful for the highly scientific research environment, the facilities and the wonderful collaboration with my colleagues in each place. I would also like to thank Oslo University Hospital for giving me the opportunity to immerse in scientific work, and the University of Oslo for educating me towards a PhD.

I am especially thankful to my supervisors, who have guided me throughout the process. Jens, you have been my safe haven from day one. You have encouraged me when I needed, distracted me when necessary, comforted me in desperate times and pushed me out of my comfort zone. Your combination of ambition and warmth inspires me. I could not imagine having a better supervisor. Thank you!

Jens Petter (co-supervisor), it has been a privilege to have you on "my team". Your opinion and guidance have been rock solid. Olivera (co-supervisor), thank you for your hard and efficient work, the scientific discussions and your hospitality. This work could not have been done without your experience and drive. Thor (co-supervisor), thank you for your guidance along the way. For the discussions during the group meetings and your deep scientific approach.

I would like to thank my colleagues that worked together with me in the articles of this thesis: Manuela, my statistician, thank you for making statistics available for me. It has been a true delight working together with you. Your knowledge and bright mind have lifted the studies. Kjersti, we have had a lot of fun both inside and outside the hospital. My favorite partner in crime and solid counselor during lab work. Thank you for the coffee breaks, the scientific and non-scientific discussions and for teaching me the same things over and over and over again. Cristina, I admire your competence, your drive and positivity. Thank you for support during congresses, for dancing and companionship. Tove, you have been available to us along the road, for guidance and advice. Thank you for letting us lean against your experience. Geir, you have taught me all I know about neuroradiology, thank you for your patience and thorough work. I would also like to thank our collaborators at the department of neurosurgery, in particular Jon, Torstein and Daniel. Without your interest and engagement, our project would not be realized to the reached level. It's been a pleasure!

There are several persons at the section of specialized endocrinology that have influenced this work in many ways. Anders (my office-mate)! Thank you for all the interruptions and for letting me interrupt you. For the highly scientific ad hoc research projects and everyday craziness. For always answering all my questions both personal, medical, scientific and from the quiz-bible. You have made my days lighter. Ansgar, thank you for walking the path before me and sharing generously all your good tips and tricks, especially during the last critical formatting phase. Arild and Mikkel, you push me to the limits both in the gym and in your academic approach. Always supportive. I do believe that you two made the last months of my PhD at least borderline significantly happier. Kristin G, your

positivity is contagious! Thank you for sharing your experience through many years of science. Thank you for all the work that has been put down in collecting and preservation of samples for biobanking, not just during the last years, but the last decades. Your work has been invaluable for so many. Kari, Ida, Hilde, Line, Helene and Elin, you are keeping the wheels turning. Always positive. Always helpful. Always making the people around you feel better. Ersan, Alex and Anders; thank you for fun chats in the lab and for broadening my mind!

Hilde, Hallvard, Steinar, Anne-Kari and Andreas; Kristin, Silje and Thusjanthy (my modern family) - you are and have been close to me the last years, supported med and cheered me along; and made sure that I remember that there is a world outside C2.1003. Thank you!

My family; Matilda, Alfred, Konrad, Hallvard, Tania, Martin, Kirsten and Oddgeir, I love you. Mum and dad – for the genetics, foundation, the piece of forest for lumber work, for understanding and for never-ending support, thank you!

## **Selected abbreviations**

| Adrenocorticotropic hormone          | ACTH |
|--------------------------------------|------|
| Akaike Information Criteria          | AIC  |
| Coefficient of Variance              | CV   |
| Complementary DNA                    | cDNA |
| Cycle threshold                      | Ct   |
| Dopamin Receptor                     | DR   |
| Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition | EMT  |
| Follicle stimulating hormone         | FSH  |
| Formalin Fixed Paraffin Embedded     | FFPE |
| Growth Hormone                       | GH   |
| Immunohistochemistry                 | IHC  |
| ImmunoReactive Score                 | IRS  |
| Inter Quartile Range                 | IQR  |
| Luteinising hormone                  | LH   |
| Mesenchymal to Epithelial Transition | MET  |
| Messenger Ribonucleic Acid           | mRNA |
| Non-functioning Pituitary Adenoma    | NFPA |
| Oestrogen Receptor                   | ER   |

| Pituitary Adenoma                       | PA      |
|---|---------|
| Pituitary-specific transcription factor | Pit-1   |
| Polymerase Chain Reaction               | PCR     |
| Progesterone Receptor                   | PR      |
| Prolactin                               | PRL     |
| Reverse transcription quantitative PCR  | RT-qPCR |
| Somatostatin Receptor                   | SSTR    |
| Somatostatin Receptor Ligand            | SRL     |
| Standard Deviation                      | SD      |
| Steroidogenic factor 1                  | SF-1    |
| T-box transcription factor              | T-Pit   |
| Thyroid-stimulating hormone             | TSH     |
| Tissue MicroArray                       | TMA     |
| Tumour Volume Doubling Time             | TVDT    |

## List of publications

#### <u>Paper 1</u>

Normann KR, Øystese KA, Berg JP, Lekva T, Berg-Johnsen J, Bollerslev J, Olarescu NC 2016 Selection and validation of reliable reference genes for RT-qPCR analysis in a large cohort of pituitary adenomas. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology 437 (2016) 183-189

#### Paper 2

Øystese KA, Zucknick M, Casar-Borota O, Ringstad G and Bollerslev J 2017 Early postoperative growth in non-functioning pituitary adenomas; A tool to tailor safe follow-up. Endocrine methods and techniques DOI:10.1007/s12020-017-1314-5

#### Paper 3

Øystese KA, Casar-Borota O, Normann KR, Zucknick M, Berg JP, Bollerslev J 2017 Estrogen Receptor α, a Sex-Dependent Predictor of Aggressiveness in Nonfunctioning Pituitary Adenomas: SSTR and Sex Hormone Receptor Distribution in NFPA. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2017 102 (9):3581-3590

#### Paper 4

Øystese KA, Berg JP, Normann KR, Zucknick M, Casar-Borota O and Bollerslev J 2017 The Role of E- and N-cadherin in the postoperative course of Gonadotroph Pituitary Adenomas (Submitted)

## **Background**

#### The pituitary gland

The pituitary gland is an endocrine organ, situated in the sella turcica at the base of the brain. It is surrounded laterally by the cavernous sinuses, and superiorly by the optic chiasm (1). The carotid arteries runs through the cavernous sinuses at both sides, giving of branches for blood supply for the pituitary gland (Figure 1) (2). The pituitary gland consist of the adenohypophysis and the neurohypophysis. The adenohypophysis originates from oral ectoderm, hence its epithelial phenotype, while the neurohypophysis develops from neuroectoderm early in the embryogenesis (3). The pituitary, together with the hypothalamus, is crucial in growth, development and reproduction and in sustaining vital homeostasis through secreting hormones that regulate peripheral endocrine glands (ACTH, TSH, FSH, LH), or through direct effect on target cells (GH, ADH, prolactin and oxytocin).



*Figure 1: View of the normal sellar and parasellar region in coronal (a) and lateral (b) view. From Di Ieva et al 2014 (4); copyright obtained.* 

#### <u>Pituitary adenomas</u>

Adenomas arising from the anterior pituitary, pituitary adenomas (PAs), are the third most common intracranial neoplasm, according to cancer and tumour registries (5). A systematic review of PA showed a prevalence of 14.4% in post mortem studies, and 22.5% in imaging studies (6). A substantial proportion of the adenomas are discovered by incidence, hence the name pituitary incidentalomas (7). Tumours originating in the posterior pituitary are rare (8).

Clinically non-functioning pituitary adenomas (NFPAs), or silent pituitary adenomas, are adenomas without excess hormone secretion leading to a clinical syndrome of hormone overproduction (9). They comprise approximately half of the PAs (10). Both hormone secreting and nonsecreting PAs can originate from any of the cell-types of the anterior pituitary, gonadotroph cells being the most common origin of the clinically NFPAs (11), while prolactin producing adenomas are the most frequently occurring functioning PA, followed by somatotroph adenomas (7, 10). Corticotroph cells can give rise to both functioning and non-functioning tumours, though both are relatively rare (7, 10, 12). Thyrotroph adenomas are rarely occurring, both as hormone secreting and non-secreting adenomas (10, 11). There is a slight male predominance in the clinically NFPAs, though not found in all studies (7, 10, 13, 14). Men also tend to be older and present larger tumours than women (7, 15).

The mainstay of treatment for the clinically NFPAs is transphenoidal surgery with removal or debulking of the adenoma. In some complicated cases, a transcranial approach is necessary (16). Radiation is primarily used as adjuvant therapy for patients with residual tumours, and have been

shown to be effective in reducing recurrence of tumour (17). However, the treatment modality is associated with several side effects in particular pituitary deficiency (18). The data on the long term complication risks is sparse, as summarized by Ntali et al (18). No medical therapy has been shown to be effective in the treatment of these tumours, though randomized controlled trials are lacking (19, 20).

PAs are mainly characterized as benign tumours and rarely metastasize, however a substantial portion of the tumours show invasive behaviour (12, 21). The risk of relapse is greater for tumours where residual tumour tissue is present after surgery, than after radical tumour resection (22-24). The relapse is greatest during the first five to ten years, though a delayed relapse may occur several years after primary surgery (22, 25). To date there are no reliable marker that can accurately prognosticate the postoperative course of the tumours (4). Hence, the postoperative follow-up of this patient group remains a challenge.

#### **Classification of clinically NFPAs**

NFPAs lack a clinical syndrome due to unregulated hormone secretion, but the cytoplasm of the adenoma cells may contain pituitary hormones, in which case they are named silent adenomas (9). NFPAs are a heterogeneous group of tumours, classified into subgroups clinically, radiologically and/or by immunohistochemical analyses. A correct classification has direct clinical impact on the follow-up of the patients, and may give information on the prognosis of the adenoma. In addition, detailed characterization of subgroups in scientific studies is crucial to unveil the "truth" about the adenomas.

#### Clinical classification

The adenomas are traditionally categorised into a clinically aggressive or non-aggressive PAs. According to the recently published guidelines on aggressive pituitary tumours, the diagnosis of an aggressive pituitary tumour should be considered when there is invasion into surrounding structures on radiologic investigation together with a rapid tumour growth rate, or clinically tumour growth despite optimal standard therapies. However; tumour recurrence or invasiveness alone are not necessarily indicative of an aggressive tumour (26). Young age has been associated with a more aggressive tumour behaviour (27-29), though studies have not shown a consistent association between age and the risk of tumour recurrence (23, 30, 31). Pituitary carcinomas are defined as neoplasms originating from the anterior pituitary with craniospinal or systematic metastasis (32). These tumours are rare among pituitary tumours (12), and even more rare in NFPAs (33).

#### Radiological classification

Adenomas of the pituitary are classified by size and invasiveness from radiologic investigations. According to the largest diameter measured, the tumours are divided into micro (<10 mm) and macro adenomas (>10 mm), and further into pico (<3 mm) and giant adenomas (>40 mm) (34). Macroadenomas (>10 mm) have been associated with a higher tendency of growth progression, than microadenomas (35).

The level of invasiveness into the surrounding structures is frequently reported in everyday practice and in clinical studies. In the guideline concerning aggressive PAs, invasiveness together with rapid growth or growth despite optimal standard therapies were considered diagnostic for the term aggressive pituitary adenoma. Invasiveness alone was not considered a single determinant of tumour aggressiveness (26). Invasiveness gives information on the operability of the tumour and the possibility for radical removal, and hence affects the long-term prognosis of the adenomas (23, 30, 34). A systematic review of recurrence after total resection of tumour showed that preoperative invasion was not a convincing predictor of tumour recurrence in NFPAs. However the studies reviewed varied in their results, and there is an obvious relation between invasion and radical removal of tumour (25). Some studies indicate that the different immunohistochemical subtypes of clinically NFPAs show different levels of invasiveness (36). There are different approaches of addressing invasiveness. The above-mentioned guideline does not recommend or refer to one specific approach (26). The most common measures of invasiveness used in the literature are Knosp's and Hardy's classifications. Knosp et al based their definition of invasiveness in relation to the carotid arteries that runs through the cavernous sinuses laterally to the sella on both sides (37, 38). The Hardy classification relates to the invasion of the sphenoid bone structures (39). Recent reports have suggested to combine radiologically determined invasiveness and immunohistochemical properties in the prognostic characterization of pituitary adenomas (40).

#### Immunopathological classification

The five distinct hormone-secreting cells of the anterior pituitary can all give rise to both hormone secreting and non-secreting tumours. The differentiation between these tumour types is made by staining for the pituitary hormones, and may be supplemented by the associated cell lineage specific transcription factors (41). The immunohistochemical subtypes of NFPAs tend to show different clinical characteristics (11). Silent corticotroph, plurihormonal and null-cell adenomas are known to show a more aggressive clinical course than the gonadotroph adenomas (30, 42). Silent somatotroph, thyrotroph and lactotroph adenomas are rare (12) and studies comparing these subtypes are therefore a challenge. The gonadotroph subtype is the most prevalent determined by IHC, in series investigating clinically NFPAs, in particular after the introduction of transcription factors as part of the immunohistochemical classification (11, 43). However, detailed epidemiological studies including both clinical data concerning hormone production and subclassification by IHC of NFPAs are sparse (10, 12, 15).

#### Transcription factors

Adenomas not staining for any pituitary hormones (null-cell adenomas) have traditionally been the second largest immunohistochemical subtype of clinically NFPAs (30, 43). During the last years, staining for lineage specific transcription factors has been suggested as a supplement to the characterization of NFPAs together with staining for the pituitary hormones (41, 44). This classifies a substantial proportion of the hormone negative adenomas into gonadotroph and corticotroph adenomas based on a positive staining for the transcription factor SF-1 and T-Pit, respectively (45, 46); while the transcription factor Pit-1 is characteristic for the

combined group of somatotroph, thyrotroph and/or lactotroph adenomas (47). Accordingly, the remaining portion of "true" null-cell adenomas, negative for both the transcription factors and all the adenohypophysial hormones, is small (11).

#### Proliferation markers and malignancy

The world health organization (WHO) suggested in 2004 to classify pituitary tumours into three categories (typical and atypical PAs and pituitary carcinoma), based on the level and/or presence of the cell proliferation markers Ki-67 (> 3%), nuclear p53 and mitotic activity and for carcinomas; the presence of metastasis (32). However, the criterias for the distinction between typical and atypical were vague and has not been shown to correlate consistently with clinical variables of aggressiveness (48). WHO published a new *Classification of Tumors of Endocrine organs* in the fall of 2017, where the classification into typical and atypical no longer was withheld, though some of the markers are still kept as prognostic markers (41). Size, clinical presentation and invasiveness in addition to immunohistochemical markers was mentioned as parameters to consider in relation to aggressiveness. The definition of pituitary carcinoma was kept in the latest classification (41).

#### Growth and aggressiveness of clinically NFPAs

The follow-up of patients with clinically NFPAs is resource and time consuming for both the health care system and for the patients. To date there are no reliable marker that predicts tumour growth in these adenomas, and no parameter that mirrors the disease activity as we have for the functioning pituitary adenomas.

#### Growth dynamics

Population based studies have found a very high prevalence of pituitary lesions, while the prevalence of clinically relevant lesions are much lower, indicating that there is a variable growth potential in these tumours (6, 13). Most studies report stable or slowly growing tumour remnants after surgery for clinically NFPAs (22). Tumours totally removed at surgery have a lesser risk of recurrence; however, a delayed recurrence five and ten years after primary surgery has been reported in several studies (22, 25).

Tumour growth dynamics have been of interest for scientist for decades. Knowing the course of a tumour's growth pattern and pace would enable the clinician to tailor the timing and modality of treatment and the followup of the individual patient better. In their review from 2013 Rodriguez-Brenes et al (49) described five different growth patterns with concomitant biological models. The exponential growth pattern is associated with the biological model of simple and constant cell division. This model has been widely used in clinical studies, and is the background assumption for calculation of tumour volume doubling time (TVDT). In the linear growth curve, a fixed volume is added to the existent tumour volume, associated with a superficial cell division (49). The logistic growth model was originally based on empirical data. However, physiologic explanations have been suggested such as insufficient diffusion of nutrients. The logistic curve follows three phases; initial exponential growth, a linear phase and the plateau phase (Figure 2). The review also described atypical growth and

multistep growth. The first pointing to subexponential or sublinear (subcubic) growth but without retardation of growth leading to a sigmoid curve. The latter model with alternating growth and dormant periods (49). These models were not investigated in the present study.

To date only a single study has explored the growth kinetics of NFPAs in detail. Honegger et al studied 15 patients with a clinically NFPAs (12 of them after surgery), and found the logistic and exponential growth models to best describe the growth in their group of tumours (29). The TVDT of NFPAs has been estimated in a few studies, most assuming that the tumours exhibit exponential growth, with TVDT measured from a minimum of two measurement points (27, 28, 50, 51).



*Figure 2: Examples of exponential, linear and logistic growth curves from top to bottom.* 

#### Somatostatin, Oestrogen and Progesterone Receptors

The different immunohistochemical subtypes of clinically NFPAs are known to have different clinical characteristics, and some of them equivalent to their functioning counterparts (11). The receptor distribution differs between the normal pituitary cells, though not all have been thoroughly studied (52, 53). Medical therapies directed towards the somatostatin receptors (SSTR) are available for GH, ACTH and TSH secreting adenomas (54-56), and towards the dopamine receptor (DR) for prolactin secreting adenomas (57). To date there are no effective medical therapy available for clinically NFPAs, and knowing the receptor pattern would give potential targets of medical therapy.

SSTRs are G-protein coupled membrane receptors (58). Five main subtypes (SSTR1-5) have been described and four of them are normally expressed in the pituitary gland (59). SSTR3 has been shown to be highly expressed in some clinically NFPAs, while the expression of the remaining SSTR-types has varied (60-62). Some studies have shown SSTR3 to be involved in apoptotic and antiproliferative cell functions, though this has not been studied in pituitary cells (63, 64). Studies in mice have shown a ligand-independent function of SSTR3, inhibiting ACTH-secretion (65). If SSTR3 holds a role in the pathogenesis and silencing of NFPAs is yet to be elucidated.

SSTR2 and SSTR5 are the two main targets for already existing somatostatin receptor ligands (SRL) used in the treatment of some of the functioning PAs (66). The SRL have shown to have effect in controlling the hormone secretion and reducing tumour volume (67-69). SSTR2 and SSTR5 are known to be highly expressed in functioning somatotroph

adenomas, while SSTR5 dominates in functioning corticotroph tumours (69, 70). Studies reporting the distribution of SSTR2 and SSTR5 in NFPAs have shown conflicting results (60, 62, 71). Only a few studies have reported the effect of SRL on growth in clinically NFPAs (72, 73), and randomized controlled trials have so far not been published.

Oestrogen and progesterone receptors (ERs and PRs) are nuclear steroid receptors. They function as transcription factors, and are known to participate in the growth and differentiation of several tissues (74, 75). Both are found in normal pituitary tissue (76, 77). ER is a known transcription factor for the gonadotroph and lactotroph lineage of pituitary cell development, and has been demonstrated in normal gonadotroph and lactotroph cells (53). There are two classes of Oestrogen receptor, ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ , with several isoforms identified for each class (78). The level of ER $\alpha$ has been linked to aggressiveness in several tumour types, including prolactinomas (79-81). Only a few studies have investigated ERs and it`s association to aggressiveness in clinically NFPAs (61, 82-84).

The PR has been associated with proliferation in breast cancer (75). PR has two main isoforms, PRA and PRB, where PRA is the dominant isoform. PRB is an activator of genes in cells, while PRA inhibits the effect of PRB (85).The information of the role of PR in the development and progression of PAs are lacking.

#### Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition (EMT)

Loss of epithelial differentiation is thought to be involved in the development of more aggressive tumours, and has been linked to the

process of Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition (EMT), with a loss of the adhesion protein E-cadherin (86-88).

Both EMT and the counterpart Mesenchymal to Epithelial Transition (MET) are changes in a cell's phenotype taking place in both normal and pathological conditions (88). Epithelial tissues are highly specialized with diverse functions. They are classically characterized by tight cell to cell contacts, with their main adhesion system being maintained by the adherence proteins (88). Cadherins are a family of glycoproteins with varied functions in different cells (89). The downregulation of E-cadherin has been viewed as the hallmark of EMT and several mechanisms for the downregulation of E-cadherin have been described in the EMT process addressing both transcriptional and posttranscriptional modifications (88, 90-92). E-cadherin has been found in the nucleus both in pituitary tumours as well as in other tumour types. The nuclear presence is associated with a lower E-cadherin level by the membrane (91, 93, 94). Some investigators have suggested that nuclear E-cadherin binds to DNA and is involved in signaling pathways (91). A lower level of E-cadherin has been associated with a more aggressive phenotype in some functioning PAs (86, 87, 95, 96), while the few studies on E-cadherin and aggressiveness in clinically NFPAs have given variable results (43, 84).

N-cadherin, also an adherence protein, is associated with a mesenchymal phenotype. It has been shown to be involved in a tumour's ability to invade and metastasize (97). Increased N-cadherin expression has shown effects on cell motility independent of the presence of E-cadherin (97). N-cadherin is present in the normal pituitary, though the distribution in the different pituitary cells may vary (95, 98). Chauvet et al studied N-cadherin in

somatotroph and lactotroph tumours and found de novo expression of Ncadherin to be linked to a more mesenchymal phenotype (95). Some studies have also suggested that both E-and N-cadherin might be linked to regulation of hormone secretion for some functioning adenomas (86, 99).

#### <u>Knowledge gap</u>

The clinically NFPAs have had less attention than their functioning counterparts, and there is a need for information in several areas concerning these adenomas. The tumours are heterogeneous, and some of the immunohistochemical subtypes are rare, blurring the results in different studies. There is a lack of reliable markers to prognosticate the clinical course of the adenomas. Likewise, the knowledge on adenoma growth is sparse, making a safe planning and termination of follow-up difficult. Finally, there is no effective medical treatment for the NFPAs, and invasive and irreversible treatment is the only alternative for cure or symptom control.

## Aims of the study

- The overall aim of the study was to better characterize the morphology and behaviour of clinically NFPAs.
- We aimed to establish a platform for future analyses with qPCR through mapping the most reliable reference genes for different immunohistochemical subtypes of functional and non-functional pituitary adenomas.
- We also aimed to investigate the growth patterns and pace of clinically NFPAs, and at the same time create solid end-points of tumour growth, through obtaining growth curves and calculating TVDT.
- We aimed to pattern biological characteristics between the different immunohistochemical subtypes of NFPA, with details on receptor distribution which may be potential targets of medical therapy.
- Finally, the study aimed to describe the distribution of the E- and Ncadherin molecules, which are linked to an epithelial phenotype, and correlate them to clinical variables of aggressiveness in silent gonadotroph tumours.

## Summary of results

# Paper 1: Selection and validation of reliable reference genes for RT-qPCR analysis in a large cohort of pituitary adenomas

**Background**: A major challenge in quantification of gene expression by RTqPCR is the lack of data on stable reference genes in the specific tissues investigated.

**Aim**: To characterize the most optimal reference gene or reference gene combination in different classes of pituitary adenomas.

#### Main results:

- Selection cohort: Twenty-one out of 27 genes investigated showed cycle threshold (Ct)-values with a SD < 1 indicating good stability as reference genes.
  - GeNorm: The optimal number of reference genes combined to obtain a stable normalization index was two. The recommended combination of reference genes for the whole cohort was ALAS1 and PSMC4.
  - NormFinder: The best candidate gene in all subclasses investigated was ALAS1. The best combination of genes were PSMC4 and GAPDH for the whole cohort.
  - BestKeeper: Of the 10 genes with the lowest SD; RPL30,
    RPS17, GAPDH and ACTB were the most stable.
- Validation cohort: Based on the results from the selection cohort PSMC4, ALAS1 and GAPDH were selected for the validation analyses. The combination of ALAS1 and GAPDH showed the most optimal stability in NFPAs, also when dividing into subtypes based

on IHC. The combination of PSMC4 and GAPDH was best for both GH and ACTH producing adenomas.

**Conclusion**: The combination of ALAS1 and GAPDH was the most stable combination of reference genes for NFPAs, while PSMC4 and GAPDH was optimal for both GH and ACTH- producing adenomas. We found that several reference genes showed good stability in PAs, and might serve as additional reference genes for further validation in PAs.

# <u>Paper 2: Early postoperative growth in non-functioning</u> pituitary adenomas. A tool to tailor safe follow-up

**Background:** The postoperative growth of clinically NFPAs determines the follow-up and the time to potential reintervention. However, information on the growth patterns of these tumours is sparse.

**Aim:** To characterize the growth rate and growth pattern in clinically NFPAs.

**Main results:** Of 52 patients with sufficient follow-up, 39 patients (tumours) were available for growth curve modelling.

- Growth curves: 13 tumours showed exponential growth, 16 tumours logistic growth and 10 tumours evidenced linear growth. Thirteen tumours did not show regrowth.
- There was a higher rate of reintervention among tumours with exponential growth.
- Logistic growing tumours presented a lower initial TVDT than both linear and exponential growing tumours.
- Men showed a slightly lower initial TVDT than women.
- No tumours showed obvious signs of accelerated growth.

**Conclusion:** Postoperative tumour growth showed a good fit to models of exponential, linear and logistic growth. A substantial portion of the tumours showed a deceleration of TVDT with time, and there was no obvious signs of accelerated tumour growth in the cohort. These findings suggest calculation of initial TVDT as a tool to tailor safe follow-up in the care of clinically NFPAs.

# <u>Paper 3: Estrogen Receptor α; a Sex-Dependent Predictor of</u> <u>Aggressiveness in Nonfunctioning Pituitary Adenomas: SSTR</u> and Sex Hormone Receptor Distribution in NFPA

**Background:** The treatment and follow-up of clinically NFPAs is multidisciplinary and resource demanding. No medical treatment is available and there is no reliable marker of tumour aggressiveness for these tumours.

Aim: We aimed to pattern the distribution of SSTRs, ER $\alpha$  and PR in different immunohistochemical subclasses of clinically NFPAs, and relate them to variables of aggressiveness.

**Main results:** IHC analysis revealed that SSTR3 was abundantly expressed in all immunohistochemical subtypes investigated, while the other SSTRs presented low IRS that differed between the subclasses. ER $\alpha$  showed a gender specific correlation with SSTR2. In addition; there was a gender specific association between the IRS of ER $\alpha$  and rate of and time to reintervention. ER $\alpha$  combined with age showed to be a reliable predictor for reintervention in male patients with gonadotroph adenomas.

**Conclusion:** SSTR3 was abundantly expressed in clinically NFPAs. ER $\alpha$  showed a gender specific association to the rate of and time to reintervention. The combination of ER $\alpha$  and age served as a predictive marker for reintervention in male patients with gonadotroph adenomas.

## <u>Paper 4: The Role of E- and N-cadherin in the postoperative</u> course of Gonadotroph Pituitary Adenomas

**Background:** EMT is a process linked to invasive and metastatic properties of epithelial tumours. Gonadotroph pituitary adenomas show a wide range of aggressiveness. To date there is no reliable marker predicting the clinical course of these tumours and the mechanisms behind their aggressiveness is yet to be elucidated.

**Aims:** To pattern the distribution of E- and N-cadherin in gonadotroph pituitary adenomas, and investigate their link to variables of aggressiveness.

Main results: We found the IRS of N-cadherin to be high, and the IRS of the extracellular domain of E-cadherin to be low in the gonadotroph tumours, while the IRS of the intracellular domain of E-cadherin varied. A substantial portion of the tumours showed nuclear presence of the intracellular domain of E-cadherin. These tumours also presented significantly lower membranous staining for the intracellular domain of Ecadherin than tumours without nuclear staining. Absence of nuclear staining for the intracellular domain of E-cadherin was associated with a higher rate and shorter time to reintervention.

**Conclusion:** N-cadherin was abundantly expressed in gonadotroph pituitary adenomas. The extracellular domain of E-cadherin seemed to be missing in these adenomas, and a substantial part of the tumours presented nuclear staining for the intracellular domain of E-cadherin. Absence of nuclear staining for E-cadherin was associated with a higher rate of reintervention.

#### **Discussion**

#### Methodological Considerations

#### Design and patient population

Adenoma tissue from surgery of PAs has been collected for systematic studies concerning Mb. Cushing, Acromegaly and clinically NFPAs at the Section of Specialized Endocrinology at OUS during the last decades. For the NFPAs, this ended in 2009 when there was no longer ongoing research on these specific tumours. Most of the patients included in the present study, were included in the previous investigation by IHC of KIT protein expression in different types of PAs (100). Patients from whom Formalin Fixed Paraffin Embedded (FFPE) tissue or frozen tissue were available, were retrospectively included in the present study of clinically NFPAs (Figure 3). Not all samples have been used in scientific analyses previously. Informed consent was retrieved from patients where this was missing. The associated patient records were studied to affirm that all tumours were evaluated as clinically non-functioning at the time of the primary operation either through their electronic patient record, or in the original paper version in the archives.

Patients with frozen adenoma tissue available for rt-qPCR analyses were included in Paper 1. Patients from other cohorts of acromegaly and Mb. Cushing were included in Paper 1, only. Patients where digital MRI-scans were available were included in the study of growth curves and TVDT (Paper 2), while patients with either FFPE or frozen tissue of sufficient quality from primary operation were included in the receptor study (Paper 3). Patients with gonadotroph tumours and FFPE or frozen tissue were included in the study of markers of EMT (Paper 4). Digital MRI-scans were available from 2002. We needed at least four consecutive good quality scans to pattern growth curves for the postoperative growth of tumours. This might have given us a selected group of patients with less aggressive tumours than those going through reintervention before four MRI-scans were obtained, and less aggressive than tumours where the follow-up ended early. An attempt to describe this potential selection bias has been made in Paper 2.



Figur 3: Patient material available for analyses in the database of clinically NFPAs.

#### RT-qPCR

We used Reverse Transcription quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-qPCR) for the quantification of mRNA levels in tissue samples from PAs. The PCR method is a method used for amplification of a target gene segment (101). RNA is fragile for denaturation and is therefore reverse transcribed from mRNA to cDNA (102). In the PCR procedure, a forward and reverse primer depicting the target gene is added to a solution containing the complementary DNA (cDNA) from the tissue of interest. The solution is run though a thermal cycler where denaturation, annealing of primers and transcription takes place at different temperatures. This reaction is repeated through a known number of cycles (101). A fluorescent dye added to the standard solution makes it possible to detect the amount of double stranded DNA throughout the cycling process, hence the name real-time PCR or quantitative PCR (qPCR) (103).

Before the RT-qPCR can be performed, tissue samples must be homogenized and mRNA extracted. The mRNA molecule is easily degraded by naturally occurring ribonucleases (RNAse). In our experiments strict precautions were made to prevent this during the homogenization and extraction of RNA.

The samples included in the study were collected over a long period of time. Some of the frozen tissue samples were dating as far back as 1995. However, all samples were scored with RNA integrity number (RIN), which is a measure of the amount of degraded RNA in a sample (104). Only samples with a RIN > 4 were included. Only 8 samples showed a RIN value between 4-5, seven of these from the primary operations. For these samples electropherograms accompanying the RIN analysis, were controlled to

approve of the sample quality. A RIN value >7 was present for the 12 hormone producing tumours and 12 clinically NFPAs included in the selection study in Paper 1. RNA quantity and purity was measured by OD readings on a Nanodrop ND1000 Spectophotometre, as described in Paper 1.

The amplification of the target cDNA is relying on the specificity of the primers used. The primers were designed and quality checked using primer-blast function in PubMed (105). The detection of the fluorescent dye is also depending on the specificity of the primers used, while the dye binds to all double stranded DNA (106). To control for this the fluorescence signal is plotted as a function, not just against time, but against temperature to visualize the melting curves of the amplicon (107). If the primers are not specific and several genes are amplified in the sample, there will be several or a low and broad melting curve.

The RT-qPCR method is prone to errors and variations during each step in the procedure. The exponential nature of the amplification makes insignificant initial errors and variations great at the end of the reaction. Therefore, all mRNA results for all genes in each sample (analysed in parallels) were checked according to melting point and standard curves, by the same two investigators (Kjersti Normann and the author of this thesis KAØ). Sample results of low quality, with a blurred melting point or with diverging parallels were not included in the statistical analyses.

We measured the relative quantity of the target gene against a standard curve of four samples and normalized to the combination of two reference genes, yielding a relative quantification of all the target genes investigated. Relative quantification in relation to at least two reference genes is
preferred when knowledge on the precise quantity of amplicons is not needed, as it does not depend on standards with known concentrations in the tumour tissue (108). One of the major limitations of this method is the lack of appropriate selection of reference genes and the validation of these. The Minimum Information for Publication of Quantitative Real-Time PCR experiments (MIQE)-guidelines emphasized that validation of reference genes for each specific tissue is crucial for assessing reliable gene expression data (109). The data on validation of reference genes in NFPAs is however sparse (110). Therefore, validation of reference genes in Paper 1, laid the base for the relative quantification of the target mRNA analyses in Paper 3 and 4.

### Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemical analyses are widely used both in everyday clinical practice and as a research tool. The IHC principle is based on the detection of specific antigens in tumour tissue by antibodies (111). The antibodies are immunoglobulin molecules with a specific binding site to a target molecule. Antibodies can themselves also function as an antigen, which is important in IHC for the visual detection of the antibody-antigen constellation (112). The antibodies used in IHC may be monoclonal or polyclonal, the latter being an antiserum from an immunized animal containing several antibodies (113). The monoclonal antibodies are produced from a single clone of B-cells activated by a specific antigen. Though produced specifically for one target protein, the monoclonal antibodies may cross react with other molecules presenting similar epitopes as the target (112).

The introduction of Tissue MicroArray (TMA) enabled large panels of tissue specimens to be investigated in one session making it a practical and effective high throughput analysis (114). For the construction of the TMA blocks in our study, small cylindrical biopsies (diameter of 1 mm) were punched from several single adenoma tissue samples, beforehand marked as suitable for investigation by the pathologist. The biopsies were transferred to a recipient paraffin array block with multiple cavities corresponding to the biopsies taken. The array block was then cut into thin sections which were placed on microscope slides for further antibody staining as presented in the papers.

One of the challenges with TMAs is variable depth in the tissue specimens, and hence a lack of tissue specimen for some of the samples from the deeper levels of the different biopsy cylinders in TMA block. The tumours may also show heterogeneity in the distribution of the target proteins, though studies have shown a good correlation between TMAs with biopsies as small as 0.6 mm and whole-tissue sections (115). The pathologist marks representative areas where the punches are taken from, while the deeper layers are not visualized, hence the heterogeneity along the depths of the biopsy are more challenging to account for (116). In our study, two biopsies (1 mm) from each of the original tumour blocks were taken to control for tumour heterogeneity.

The target proteins in our study were all scored manually using the Immuno Reactivity Score (IRS), as described previously (117). This scoring system takes both the intensity of the staining and the proportion of the staining cells into account. It was originally used for scoring of the oestrogen receptor in breast cancer (117). The IRS has previously been used

for immunohistochemical analyses in both PAs and other tumour types (60, 118, 119). For some of the analyses in our study the IRS was divided into negative (IRS 0-1), weakly positive (IRS 2-3), moderately positive (IRS 4-8) and strongly positive (9-12), as previously done (60). In Paper 3, the IRS of  $ER\alpha$  was divided into negative and positive in accordance with the same grading system, as mentioned above (60). The division between these IRS grades is artificial, since there is a continuum and little difference between the adjacent scores. The IRS is a product of two variables, and the same score may present different morphology. E.g. a tumour with an intense colour reaction in a small proportion of the cells might appear very different from a tumour with a weak colour reaction in 51-80% of the cells, though the IRS will be the same in both cases (IRS 3). The IRS does not take the location of the target protein into account, and additional information on the location of the cadherins was added, independently of the IRS in Paper 4. Because of the nature of the IRS scale, only nonparametric analyses was performed on the data set.

The IRS is a manual scoring system which is dependent on the experience and the judgement of the pathologist, and hence liable to inter- and intrarater (observer) variability. One advantage of the present studies was that an experienced pathologist (Olivera Casar-Borota), blinded to clinical data, performed all the immunohistochemical analyses.

## Sub classification of tumours

The tumours included in the present study were sub classified according to immunohistochemical staining for the pituitary hormones and cell lineage specific transcription factors for all tumours where FFPE tissue samples were available. Staining for the pituitary hormones is normally performed as a routine investigation of PAs in clinical practice. The recently published WHO classification of PAs includes complimentary staining for the cell lineage specific transcription factors (SF-1, T-Pit and Pit-1) (41). Up until recently there has been a lack of a commercially available reliable T-Pit antibody (120), hence this was not investigated in the TMAs in this study. This may have had implications for the size of the null-cell and corticotroph subgroups in our analyses. Some of the null-cell adenomas might have been T-Pit positive and thus belonging to the corticotroph subgroup. The results concerning these two subgroups must therefore be interpreted with caution in Paper 2 and 3.

For some tumours FFPE was not available from the primary operation, but from secondary surgery. In these cases, the classification of the tumour type was used, if frozen tissue for mRNA analyses was available. Only a few tumours in the cohort lacked immunohistochemical subtyping.

## Detection of target proteins

Immunohistochemical staining was used as the main method of detecting target proteins in our study, accompanied and supported by analyses of mRNA levels. All antibodies used in the analyses were monoclonal.

#### Receptors

Hormone receptors are the main target for medical treatment of functioning PAs, with SSTRs being the most important in somatotroph, corticotroph and thyrotroph tumours, and DR the target in lactotroph tumours (54-57). Only a few series have previously described the distribution of SSTRs, ER and PR in some of the immunohistochemical subtypes of NFPAs, and the need for more information concerning the presentation of receptors in the different immunohistochemical subtypes of

NFPAs was needed. The antibodies used for detection of receptors have all been used in human pituitary studies previously, except for the antibody targeting the PR (60, 79, 121, 122). The DR and ER $\beta$  were not investigated in the present study, due to lack of satisfactory experience with the antibodies available.

## Markers of EMT

E-cadherin and N-cadherin were chosen as markers of EMT in our gonadotroph cohort. Antibodies directed towards both the intracellular and extracellular domain of E-cadherin were used to detect the presence and localization of E-cadherin, as performed previously in somatotroph and corticotroph adenomas (86, 87). The specificity of the antibody towards the intracellular domain of E-cadherin used in Paper 4 has been debated (123), and the distributor warn that it might cross react with P-cadherin (124). Pcadherin, or placental cadherin, is an adherence protein normally located to the proliferating areas of epithelial tissues. It has also been associated with markers of aggressiveness in some epithelial cancer types (125). We found only a single study measuring the relative mRNA level of P-cadherin (CDH3) in pituitary tissue, where it was present at low levels. E-cadherin (CDH1) was the most abundantly expressed cadherin (95). The specificity of this antibody has been discussed as a part of the limitation section in Paper 4. The antibody directed towards the extracellular domain of Ecadherin (HECD-1) has previously been used to determine the level of the extracellular domain of E-cadherin both by immunohistochemistry and by Western Blot picking up fragments of both approximately 84 and 120 kDA corresponding to the extracellular domain of E-cadherin and the full length E-cadherin respectively (126-128). According to the distributor (Abcam) by

direct correspondence, the antibody targeting N-cadherin is directed against the intracellular domain of the molecule.

## Growth curve modelling

#### Volume Measurements

The largest tumour diameter is a frequently used measure of size in every day clinical practise. However, this measure has been shown to have a high retest error (129). Tumour volume measures may be calculated from diameter in three perpendicular planes, or by slice-by-slice method, also known as the Cavalieri method.

The Cavalieri principle is a method of calculating volume in irregular structures, based on the work of Bonaventura F. Cavalieri (1598 – 1647). The volume is calculated by dividing a figure in to slices (*indivisibles*), summarizing the surface area of each slice and multiplying it with the thickness of the slices (130). This method can be transferred to MRI-scans where the surface area on each MRI-slice depicting tumour tissue is summarized and multiplied by the slice-thickness and distance between each slice (131). The slice-by-slice volume measurement has been used as the reference method when testing other methods of calculating size and volume (129, 132).



Figure 4: The Cavalieri principle exemplified with domino pieces. Each figure is made out of six identical domino pieces, which exemplifies the indivisibles. According to the Cavalieri principle, the volumes of the three different structures are the same.

We used the slice-by-slice method to calculate volumes for the establishment of growth curves and TVDT in Paper 2. The method is time consuming and subject to retest error, however it allows for irregular structures of the adenomas to be incorporated in the tumour volume. In particular, the tumour remains after surgery might show an irregular outline. In addition, the slice-by-slice method has shown to have less retest error than other frequently used tumour size measures (129). Based on clinical experience; the accuracy of the volume measurement is depending on the time after surgery, where tumour contours on early postoperative scans might be more difficult to outline due to scar tissue than for example well circumfered preoperative tumours. The reliability of the slice-by-slice method at different post-operative time points is however, not known. Tumour size may also influence the accuracy of the volume measurements, while small tumours might be harder to detect properly than large tumours. The volume calculation of larger tumours may involve numerous slices and are therefore more prone to errors, which again will be multiplied by the slice thickness.

To overcome some of challenges concerning retest error all volume measures were performed by the same investigator (the author), and controlled by the same experienced neuroradiologist Geir Ringstad). Agreement on tumour outline was made for all tumours.

## Growth curves

We plotted the volume measurements against time to make growth curves for all tumours where four or more consecutive MRI-scans not interrupted by secondary treatment were available (Paper 2). Standardized growth models, exponential, linear and logistic models, was then fitted to each curve (Figure 5). More time-points, or volume registrations, would have allowed for several and better fitted growth models. We were limited by the number of consecutive MRI-scans available in the retrospective cohort, and therefore the measured growth curves were fitted to the three mentioned standardized growth models. However, these models showed a good fit to the measured growth curves.

The best fitting model was determined by the lowest Akaike Information Criteria value (AIC). The AIC principle is used to select between different models that has been considered plausible before the analysis. For our analyses this was the linear model (formula 1), the exponential model (formula 2) and the logistic model (formula 3) as given in Figure 5. The AIC principle adjusts for the number of measurement points, in addition to calculating the maximal likelihood estimation when selecting the best fitting model (133). For some volume curves more than one model showed

a similar fit (as exemplified in curve 1 and 2 in Figure 5), the AIC will then prefer the simplest model.



Figure 5: Volume in mm<sup>3</sup> (y-axis) plotted against time in months (x-axis). The standardized growth models; linear (green line), exponential (blue line) and logistic (red line), was fitted to the measured volume curves (black line with circles at each measurement point). The formulas for each growth model are given to the right of the growth curves. The best fitted model is marked with a bold line. The formulas for the growth models are given as a function of time f(t), and requires the following parameters: lowest measured volume (Vo), the slope gradient (r), the logistic model also requires the upper asymptote volume (Vinf).

Accelerated tumour growth, a shortening of TVDT with time, has previously not been described in PAs (29). This might be because rapid and increased growth excludes the possibility of following these tumours through the necessary amount of time points for growth curve modelling. As said, we needed more than four measurement points to formally asses an accelerated growth curve, and this was not available for all tumours. The growth curve of each tumour was therefore inspected to look for signs of accelerated growth. In a systematically planned prospective study, with sufficient number of volume measurements formal tests can be made to depict accelerated growth in addition to the other standardized growth patterns.

### Tumour volume doubling time

TVDT is the time it takes a tumour to double the volume. At least two volume measures at two different time points, with a known interval, are needed to calculate TVDT (134). The TVDT formula assumes that the growth between the time-points is exponential. This, however, is not the case for most tumours. The finding of a logistic or linear growth pattern allows for a change in TVDT with time, and hence the measurements of TVDT based on two measures will be less accurate not taking the growth pattern of the tumour into account.

Since we did not find signs of accelerated growth in the tumours investigated, the initial phase of the growth curves showed the fastest growth rate for all tumours. To make the TVDT values comparable across the different models, a logistic model was fitted to all growth curves for the TVDT calculations. This model is the most general, and contains an exponential and linear phase in addition to the decaying growth phase (Figure 2). The TVDT was then calculated at the very beginning of growth, based on the estimated growth rates from the models, as described in Paper 2. In this way, we were able to investigate the maximal growth potential for each tumour, and compare it across the different growth models.

## Discussion of main findings

## Reference genes in Pituitary Adenomas; Paper 1

In the study of reference genes in PAs, Paper 1, we first performed an investigation of 30 reference genes by three different program algorithms (Table 1) to find the best reference genes, the optimal number of genes to combine and the best combination of genes. Secondly, we performed a validation study of three reference genes based on the findings in the selection study. The MIQE guidelines calls for normalization of target genes against a combination of stably expressed reference genes. In addition, the optimal reference genes should be investigated for the particular tissues and specific experimental design (109).

ALAS1 and PSMC4 were found to be the best reference genes by NormFinder and GeNorm in the selection study. They were not included in the analyses by BestKeeper, while they were not among the ten reference genes with the lowest SD. However, of the reference genes studied, 21 had a Ct-values with a SD less than 1 pointing to a good stability. ALAS1 and PSMC4 has not been considered as reference genes in PAs previously. GAPDH has frequently been used as a reference gene in pituitary tumours (61, 87, 135, 136).

The best number of combination was found to be two by the GeNorm program. A single reference gene has frequently been used for normalization in PAs, this often being GAPDH, however the MIQEguidelines recommends a combination of reference genes for optimal stability GAPDH was found to be stable in PAs in our cohort for both functioning and non-functioning tumours. GAPDH has also been found

stable in previous investigations of PAs and hence seems to be a good choice in combination with other reference genes (110, 137).

ALAS1, PSMC4 and GAPDH were chosen as reference genes for the validations study, based on the results from the selection study. The large number of tumour samples included in the validations study enabled us to differ between subtypes of PAs by the NormFinder algorithm (Table 1).

# *Table 1: Overview of the program algorithms used in determining the best reference genes in Paper 1.*

| Program             | GeNorm   | NormFinder  | BestKeeper  |
|---------------------|--|---|---|
| Features            | Calculates the best ref. genes.<br>Calculates best combination<br>of ref. genes.<br>Calculates the optimal<br>number for combination of<br>ref. genes. | Calculates the best<br>combination of two ref. genes<br>Differentiates between inter-<br>and intra-rater variations   | Provides SD, CV<br>and a<br>correlation<br>coefficient (r)<br>for each gene to<br>the BI.       |
| Weaknesses          | Does not correct for co-<br>regulation (several transcripts<br>regulated via the same<br>mechanism).   | Requires a samples set of at least 8 samples.   | Includes only 10<br>genes.<br>Does not<br>provide a<br>ranking order.                           |
| Outcome             | Stability Value (M)  | NormFinder Stability Value<br>(M)   | SD, CV and r  |
| Use in the<br>study | <u>Selection cohort</u> : Calculated<br>and ranged the best reference<br>genes. Found the optimal<br>number for combination of<br>ref. genes.          | Selection cohort: Calculated<br>and ranged best ref. genes and<br>combination of ref. genes<br><u>Validation cohort</u> : Identified<br>the optimal ref. genes in the<br>immunohistochemical<br>subtypes of PA. | <u>Selection</u><br><u>cohort</u> : Provided<br>SD and CV for<br>the 10 selected<br>ref. genes. |

We found that the most stable reference gene combination in clinically NFPAs were ALAS1 and GAPDH, and PSMC4 and GAPDH in functioning adenomas. Considering that PAs arise from different cell lineages, they were expected to show some differences in their phenotype, and hence in their reference genes, which was in accordance with our results in Paper 1. When dividing between silent gonadotroph, null-cell and corticotroph adenomas, the combination of ALAS1 and GAPDH remained steady in our cohort.

The results from Paper 1 demonstrated that there are several good candidates that can be used and validated as reference genes in PAs. However, our results states that a combination of these should be used.

*Growth rate and growth curves in clinically NFPAs, Paper 2* In Paper 2, we studied the postoperative growth of clinically NFPAs by growth curve patterning and calculation of initial TVDT.

TVDT is calculated from two measurement points, assuming exponential growth between the time points (138). A substantial portion of the tumours we investigated seemed to halt their tumour growth during the follow-up time, suggesting a logistic growth pattern (Figure 6). Honegger et al also recognized the logistic growth pattern in 4 out of 12 patients with MRI follow-up after surgery (29). Another large retrospective study focussing on the second and third regrowth in clinically NFPAs, showed that a considerable proportion of tumours monitored with MRI continued to grow, though not all (24). A third of the tumours we investigated showed a

growth curve fitting an exponential growth model. Accordingly, exponential growth is not applicable for all clinically NFPAs.

The growth curves and TVDT do not take the growth direction into account, which for these tumours is essential for the indication for surgery. The main indication for surgery is compression of the optic apparatus, which presupposes superior tumour growth (19). A model which takes growth direction into account would be helpful to identify the patients who are at risk for reintervention. Monsalves et al (28) studied TVDT and growth direction and compared with clinical data and some proliferation markers. They did not find growth direction to be related to TVDT, however TVDT was calculated from a minimum of two time-points and the growth curve of tumours was not reported in this study (28).



Figure 6: Example of tumour regrowth after surgery. The MRIs are taken one year (left) and nine years (right) after primary surgery. The measured growth curve is presented in light grey, with circles at each time point. The volumes in mm<sup>3</sup> (y-axis) are plotted against months after primary surgery (x-axis), and fits a logistic growth model (dark grey line). The MRIs and growth curve are presented with the patients concent. Parts of the figure is retrieved from Øystese et al (2016) (139). Copyright Obtained.

We found the tumours with logistic growth patterns to have the lowest initial TVDT, while the exponentially growing tumours presented the slowest initial growth, but a slightly higher rate of reintervention. Whether the rapid growth by itself causes insufficient nutrition and thereby slows down, or whether there are other factors causing deceleration of the growth remains speculative. Stensjøen et al (140) studied growth patterns in glioblastoma, and found that growth models with an increase in TVDT with time (Gompertz and linear radial) were better fitted to their volume registrations than an exponential growth model, and moreover a slower growth in large compared to small tumours (140). Their median doubling time was, however, 29.8 days and the theory of nutrition depending decay of growth might seem more plausible for these fast growing tumours than for the slow growing NFPAs.

We did not find a correlation between age and TVDT in our cohort. It has previously been shown by several studies that age is positively correlated to TVDT in NFPAs (27-29). However, most of these studies have been performed with TVDT calculated from only two time points. The patients not included for growth modelling in Paper 2 due to insufficient follow-up not caused by reintervention was significantly older than the patients included. This might obscure the association between age and TVDT, and prospective studies with a standardized follow-up are needed to explore this possible correlation in a standardized way.

Men had faster initial TVDT than women in our cohort, though the rate of reintervention did not differ between genders. Tampourlou et al found the male patients to have a lower risk of second regrowth than females, but there was no gender difference in the risk of later regrowth (24). Honegger et al. did not find gender differences in their study, however only four female patients were included (29). There are some suggested gender differences when it comes to aggressiveness in the subtypes of silent PAs

(36, 141), however; we found an even gender distribution in the different immunohistochemical subtypes presented in Paper 2.

If we can assume that tumour growth decelerates, rather than accelerates, with time, the early growth rate gives us valuable information in planning a safe postoperative follow-up algorithm. We did not find obvious signs of accelerated growth in our cohort of clinically NFPAs. To our knowledge, it has not been described in NFPAs previously. However, cases of cancerous transformation of silent PAs several years after the diagnosis or primary surgery have been reported in the literature, which also indicates a change in growth rate (142-144). Tampourlou et al, reported two patients with a malignant transformation 20 and 35 years after primary surgery (24). Though very rare, this complicates the discussion on when to terminate the follow-up of this patient group. In addition, the most aggressive tumours are not available for growth curve patterning due to their need of early reintervention, and hence their growth pattern is a challenge to study. Recently published guidelines have recommended life-long follow-up for all patients identified with an aggressive pituitary adenoma, defined by radiologically invasive tumours with unusually rapid tumour growth rate or clinically relevant tumour growth despite optimal standard therapies (26). The guidelines do not define what rapid tumour growth is, or how this should be calculated.

As previously mentioned, some studies report delayed regrowth in NFPAs after surgery, both in patients with and without residual tumour (22, 24). These findings might have several explanations. Small tumour remnants, not visible on MRI, might grow steadily until they reach a detectable size. Slowly growing tumours might reach a predetermined level defining

growth, often a volume increase of 20% or diameter an increase of 2 mm in any direction. In addition, new growth might be initiated after a period of no growth. Rodriguez-Brenes et al report of a multistep growth as one of the five growth patterns in their review, linking growth to genetic alterations in the tumour which leads to alternately tumour growth and dormancy (49).

Our results demonstrate that postoperative growth of clinically NFPA might be fitted to different types of growth models, and shows a deceleration of TVDT with time in a substantial proportion of the adenomas. The clinical usage of the models implies that the exponential model, with constant TVDT, is the worst way the early growth rate can evolve. Hence, early TVDT may be used to estimate a safe follow-up regime. However, as previously mentioned, the risk of transformation of tumours should be kept in mind.

## Somatostatin, Oestrogen and Progesterone receptor distribution in clinically NFPAs, Paper 3

In Paper 3, we described the immunohistochemical distribution of SSTR1, 2, 3 and 5, ERα and PR in clinically NFPAs of different immunohistochemical subclassifications and compared it to variables of aggressiveness.

SSTR3 was abundantly expressed by IHC throughout the whole cohort and in the immunohistochemical subtypes investigated. Previous IHC studies have shown SSTR3 to be the most abundant SSTR in gonadotroph tumours (60), though this has not been found by all (62). However, different methods for immunohistochemical scoring have been used. Of the SSTRs, we found the SSTR3 to have the highest relative mRNA level, followed by SSTR2 when examining the whole cohort. Gonadotroph adenomas showed a higher mRNA expression of SSTR3 than corticotroph and null-cell adenomas. However, the groups of corticotroph and null-cell adenomas were small for the mRNA analyses. A previous report has also shown the mRNA levels of SSTR3 to be higher in the gonadotroph subgroup than in silent corticotroph adenomas (145). Drastikova et al studied a mixed cohort of PA, including a large cohort of clinically NFPAs where they found the mRNA of DR to be most abundant receptor, followed by ER $\alpha$ . SSTR3 and SSTR2 were the most abundant of the SSTRs (146). In our cohort, ER $\alpha$ showed a similar mRNA level as SSTR3. Nishioka et al compared functioning and non-functioning pituitary adenomas, and found the mRNA levels of SSTR3 to be higher in clinically NFPAs than in some functioning adenomas (somatotroph and lactotroph), while the levels of SSTR2 and 5 were lower (61).

SSTR2 is known to be the most abundant somatostatin receptor in functioning somatotroph adenomas, while SSTR5 dominates in corticotroph tumours (69, 118). In our cohort, SSTR5 was significantly higher in the corticotroph subgroup than in the gonadotroph subgroup, though the IRS was generally low. The difference between the corticotroph subgroup and the null-cell adenomas was not significant, possibly due to lack of power, or lack of staining for the corticotroph transcription factor T-Pit. The silent subtypes of PAs have been shown to have some similar clinical features as their functioning counterparts (11). However, the SSTR3 receptor is known to be absent or expressed at low levels in the functioning corticotroph adenomas (69, 147), while we found the IRS of SSTR3 to be high in the silent corticotroph subgroup. In vitro studies based on cell cultures have shown an association between SSTR3 function and regulation of hormone production and secretion in somatotroph and corticotroph cells; and that the presence of SSTR3 was related to a reduced hormone expression (65, 148).

Due to the presence of SSTRs in NFPAs, SRL are considered as potential agents for medical treatment. Octreotide, a specific SSTR2 ligand, has been tested in some small clinical trials, with limited follow-up time (72, 73). The lack of obvious effect of Octreotide is in concert with our findings where SSTR2 was present at relatively low levels and not in all immunohistochemical subtypes of the clinically NFPAs. Pasireotide, is a less selective SRL with a varied affinity for SSTR1, 2, 3 and 5 (66). Ibanez-Costa et al performed an in vitro study on the effect of SRL on cell cultures collected from different types of PAs and found cells collected from NFPAs to be poorly responsive to both octreotide and pasireotide. In addition, they observed a paradoxical increase in cell-viability. This study also found

SSTR3 to be the most abundant receptor in NFPAs at the mRNA level (149). The results of ongoing clinical trials studying the effect of pasireotide in clinically NFPAs are awaited during the next years (ClinicalTrials.gov ID: NCT01283542 and NCT02749227).

The literature concerning SSTR distribution in clinically NFPAs is characterized by a lack of consistent methods and well-defined cohorts. However, there seems to be a difference between the receptor distribution between functioning and non-functioning adenomas, and also an internal difference among the immunohistochemical subtypes of clinically NFPAs. Our results add to these previous findings in stating the abundance of SSTR3 in NFPAs, with weak and subgroup dependent staining for the latter SSTRs. A further exploration of the difference in receptor distribution between functioning and non-functioning adenomas would be of great interest; though it should be performed comparing silent and functioning tumours of the same cell-lineage.

ER $\alpha$  is known to be a transcription factor in gonadotroph and lactotroph cell differentiation (53). Hence, the IRS for ER $\alpha$  was significantly higher in the gonadotroph subgroup than in the corticotroph and null-cell subgroup. The IRS was however, low in the gonadotroph subgroup. Previous studies that have investigated ER $\alpha$  by IHC in clinically NFPAs have also found the staining scores to be low (82, 84). We did the analyses of ER $\alpha$  and variables of aggressiveness both with and without dividing between pre- and postmenopausal women, and for the whole cohort and the gonadotroph tumours separately, to control for potential variations in the ER $\alpha$ .

We found a gender dependent association between the presence of  $ER\alpha$  and reintervention, time to reintervention and correlation to SSTR2,

examined both with and without premenopausal women and only in gonadotroph adenomas. These gender differences seemed not to be depending on lack of statistical power in the female group.

Nishioka et al found a significant correlation between ER $\alpha$  and SSTR2 at the mRNA level in clinically NFPAs for patients aged over and under 50 years. They did not investigate the genders separately, though men were overrepresented (61). Drastikova et al did not find a correlation between these two receptors (146). In breast cancer cell-line studies, the ER $\alpha$  has been suggested to participate in the regulation of the transcription of SSTR2 (150, 151). The gender dependency of the correlation between the receptors are yet to be elucidated.

Delgrange et al have studied the gender differences in relation to ER $\alpha$  in lactotroph adenomas. Lactotroph adenomas are common in women, but relatively rare and more aggressive in men (152). The IRS of ER $\alpha$  in lactotroph adenomas was found to be inversely correlated to tumour size and markers of proliferation using the same antibody and IRS, as in our study (79). This association was present in both genders. The women in this study were younger than the women with clinically NFPAs in our study, and showed a high IRS of ER $\alpha$ . The men showed a low IRS similar to the IRS found in both genders in our cohort (79). We found that the absence of ER $\alpha$  in men aged below 60 years predicted reintervention with high precision. A low ER $\alpha$  was also suggested as a marker indicative of poor prognosis in the study on prolactinomas (79). Gao et al studied the ER $\alpha$  in GH3 cell-lines and different types of PA. They found the distribution of ER $\alpha$  in non-invasive and invasive PA to differ between the PA-types. In the NFPAs the proportion of tumours with ER $\alpha$  staining in < 50% of the

cells were higher in the invasive NFPAs, than in the non-invasive (153). These findings resemble the results of our study, where absence of ER $\alpha$  was related to a more aggressive clinical course. However, the staining score and end-points were different, and this study did not investigate men and women, or the different immunohistochemical subtypes of NFPAs separately (153).

Gender differerences in clinically NFPAs are not well elucidated, though some differences are found in relation to age at diagnosis and proportion of macroadenomas in epidemiological studies (7, 10). We have found differences between men and women in both Paper 2, where the initial TVDT was lower in men, and in Paper 3 as presented above.

The presence and function of PR has hardly been studied in NFPAs, though it is known to be present in both normal and adenomatous pituitary tissue (76, 154). A cell study performed on a mixed set of pituitary adenoma cells (two non-functioning) showed progesterone to inhibit cell proliferation, while estradiol stimulated cell proliferation. The effect of progesterone was related to the level of PR (155). In the present study, we did not find PR to be associated with rate of reintervention, and not correlated to the other receptors investigated.

SSTR3 seems to be the most abundant SSTR across all clinically NFPAs, and not just in gonadotrophs, making this an interesting target for comparing functioning and non-functioning adenomas and for exploring a potential target of medical treatment. In addition, we present data on ER $\alpha$  as a gender dependent prognostic marker in gonadotroph NFPAs. ER $\alpha$  has not been tested as a marker of aggressiveness in gonadotroph adenomas previously.

*E-cadherin and N-cadherin in Gonadotroph adenomas, Paper 4* In Paper 4, E-cadherin and N-cadherin in gonadotroph pituitary adenomas was characterised by IHC and mRNA expression and related to factors of aggressiveness.

We found that the immunohistochemical staining for the extracellular domain of E-cadherin was nearly absent and the IRS for the intracellular domain of E-cadherin varied with most tumours presenting a medium IRS (4-8). The IRS for N-cadherin was high throughout most of the cohort. Epithelial tissue is known to have a high level of E-cadherin (97). However, other adherence proteins are also present in epithelial tissues. Both Ecadherin and N-cadherin have previously been found in normal pituitary tissue (98). Two small studies with double staining for hormones and cadherins in normal pituitary material have shown variable cadherin distribution between the different types of adenohypophysial cells. The gonadotroph cells were found to present N-cadherin in both studies. In the same studies the somatotroph and lactotrophs cells presented with high membranous E-cadherin, while N-cadherin was found in some somatotroph and lactotroph cells in one of the studies (95, 98). Another study found N-cadherin to be nearly absent in normal somatotroph and lactotroph cells (156).

Information on the regulation and role of N-cadherin is sparse in PAs and with deviant results. In a previous study, reduced membranous staining for N-cadherin was associated with invasion in gonadotroph and null-cell adenomas. The same study showed a strong membranous staining for Ncadherin in most of the gonadotroph adenomas, and in none of the somatotroph and lactotroph adenomas investigated (156). Jia et al investigated transcripts from CDH2 (gene coding for N-cadherin) in a

mixed cohort of PAs. They found a higher CDH2 transcript to be associated with larger tumours, when investigating all tumours together. They also found the CDH2 transcript to be higher in the non-functioning tumours than in PRL, GH and mixed-hormone secreting tumours (157). The studies points to a variable expression of N-cadherin in different subtypes of PAs.

The adherence proteins are dynamic structures that are regulated by different transcriptional or posttranscriptional processes (91, 92, 136, 158). There is a plethora of possible factors influencing their production and degradation (92). A switch in cadherin expression is described as part of EMT, most commonly a downregulation of E-cadherin and a corresponding upregulation of N-cadherin. For some tumours, however, a de novo expression of N-cadherin without down regulation of E-cadherin occur (97). We did not find a negative correlation between N-cadherin and the intracellular domain of E-cadherin, indicative of a cadherin switch. On the contrary, there was a slight positive correlation between the two cadherins. Coexistence of E- and N-cadherin has been found in other tumour types and in normal tissues (98, 159, 160). In vitro studies on breast cancer cells have shown that invasive and motile features dominates when both E- and N-cadherins are present, in spite of a normal E-cadherin level (161, 162).

We did not find a difference in the IRS of N-cadherin in tumours between patients needing reintervention compared to patients operated only once. However, we found a slightly higher mRNA expression of N-cadherin in tumours from patients going though reintervention, than those who did not. The majority of tumours investigated showed a high IRS (>9) for Ncadherin (N= 94) while only ten patients showed a moderate staining (IRS 4-8). With this little variation in the IRS for N-cadherin in the cohort,

differences between groups were hard to detect. Zhou et al found the levels of E-cadherin to be lower in invasive than non-invasive, while the levels of N-cadherin did not differ, in a mixed cohort of clinically NFPAs. However, only a few of the included adenomas in this study stained for gonadotropins and the majority were plurihormonal (84).

There was a discrepancy between the IRS for the extracellular domain of Ecadherin and the intracellular domain of E-cadherin in our study. This discrepancy might be due to biological or methodological causes. A study on cancer cell lines showed that the extracellular domain of E-cadherin was cleaved off by proteases, while the intracellular domain was degraded (163). Another in vitro study of the intracellular cleavage of E-cadherin reported on nuclear translocation of the protein (91). Hence, this suggests that cleavage of E-cadherin may take place on both the inside and outside of the membrane. Previous studies in colonic adenomas have also shown low levels of the extracellular domain of E-cadherin, while the intracellular domain was intact (128). The specificity of the antibodies used may also affect the results presented. This has been discussed previously in the section on methodological considerations.

As for N-cadherin, we did not find an association between the IRS of Ecadherin scored by the cell membrane and reintervention. More than two thirds of the cohort presented nuclear staining for the intracellular domain of E-cadherin. There was a clear association between the presence of nuclear E-cadherin and low levels of membranous staining for the intracellular domain of E-cadherin. This association has also been shown in both functioning and non-funtioning pituitary adenomas previously (86, 87, 93). The ten tumours with moderate IRS (IRS 4-8) for N-cadherin, were

all tumours presenting nuclear staining for the intracellular domain of Ecadherin, mirroring the positive correlation between the IRS of the intracellular domain of E-cadherin and the IRS of N-cadherin. The pathogenesis behind the presence of nuclear E-cadherin in pituitary adenomas is not known, though a translocation of the intracellular domain of E-cadherin after cleavage of the extracellular domain, has been suggested (93). In vitro studies inducing EMT may elucidate the fate and function of the cadherins in the gonadotroph tumours.

Previous studies in subgroups of pituitary adenomas have found the presence of nuclear E-cadherin to be linked to a more aggressive tumour type, more resistant to treatment (86, 87, 93). On the contrary, nuclear Ecadherin has also been found in normal tissues (164). We found the rate of reintervention to be lower in tumours presenting nuclear E-cadherin than tumours not presenting nuclear E-cadherin. In light of this result, it was expected that the IRS of the intracellular domain of E-cadherin was higher in tumours needing reintervention. This was however, not the case most likely caused by lack of statistical power (Type 2 error). Elston et al studied a mixed cohort of pituitary adenomas with over half being NFPAs, though not further subclassified by IHC (93). They found nuclear staining for Ecadherin to be associated with a higher level of invasion. Reintervention and time to reintervention, which was used as an end-point in Paper 4 is not necessarily depending on rate of tumour invasion. The results are therefore not directly comparable. In addition, their immunohistochemical scoring system was different from the IRS used in our paper, and hence the staining levels of E-cadherin not corresponding (93).

The parameters of aggressiveness between studies of pituitary adenomas differ, making it hard to compare the effect of nuclear E-cadherin on the tumour course in different subtypes of PAs. However, all studies taken together suggests that there is a link between presence of nuclear Ecadherin and a lower membranous level of E-cadherin in both functioning and clinically non-functioning adenomas, and that the presence of nuclear E-cadherin is more frequently occurring in NFPAs (93). The association between the presence of nuclear E-cadherin and aggressiveness have shown variable results in different subtypes of PAs.

In Paper 3 we found a gender specific association between the absence of  $ER\alpha$  and rate of reintervention, while the absence of nuclear E-cadherin in the Paper 4 gave a higher rate of reintervention. The correlation between nuclear E-cadherin and reintervention was still significant when adjusting for ER $\alpha$  and age. However, the correlation between ER $\alpha$  and reintervention became weaker in the same regression model (p=0.06, OR = 0.79). The correlation remained significant for the location of E-cadherin, and not significant for ER $\alpha$  when investigating women and men separately. Zhou et al presented a negative correlation between the immunohistochemical staining of E-cadherin and ER $\alpha$  (84). This resembles our findings where nuclear absence of E-cadherin, and hence a high membranous E-cadherin score, and absence of  $ER\alpha$  was both related to reintervention. A study on rat somatolactotroph GH3 cells, showed that Estradiol  $17\beta(E_2)$  promoted non-adherence and lowered the levels of Ncadherin. They found N-cadherin to be high and E-cadherin to be low in the same cells in preliminary studies (165). The above-mentioned findings points to a possible link between ER and EMT in the gonadotroph adenomas, though this could be cell-specific mechanisms.

N-cadherin showed to be an abundant cadherin in gonadotroph adenomas, possibly reflecting the normal distribution of cadherins in gonadotroph pituitary cells. The cadherins have not been thoroughly studied separately in gonadotroph adenomas previously. Our findings, together with previous studies on clinically NFPAs and PAs, points to a cell-specific distribution of E-and N-cadherin in pituitary tumours, that may be associated with the aggressiveness of the adenomas.

#### Limitations

The main challenge of the studies is the lack of systematic inclusion. We used the material available from previous studies where tissue samples were collected. Information on how many patients and which patients who were operated in the same time period and not included in the cohort was not available to us. This might bias the selection of patients included, and systematic prospective studies are needed to validate the hypotheses generated. However, we assume that the tissue available was random.

Originally, the study aimed to compare gonadotroph and null-cell adenomas in relation to growth and markers of aggressiveness. With the introduction of transcription factors to the immunohistochemical subclassification, the number of null-cell adenomas was substantially reduced. This made comparison between subclassification subject to lack of power. However, staining for transcription factors improves the distinction between the different immunohistochemical subtypes of clinically NFPAs, in accordance with their clinical features (11), and could possibly have improved the characterization of the subtypes. We did not stain for the transcription factor T-pit due to lack of a good available antibody when

performing the IHC analyses (120). This might have obscured the difference between the corticotroph and null-cell adenomas.

There was a preponderance of male patients in our cohort. It is known from some, but not all, register-based studies that NFPAs are more common in men than in women, and that more men present with macroadenomas than women (7, 10, 15). However, the proportion of men in our cohort was larger than what is the case in previous studies. The reason for this gender difference in our cohort is not known to us.

According to the recent guidelines on management of aggressive PAs; the diagnosis of aggressiveness is based on information from series of radiologic investigations (invasiveness and growth) and/or clinical data (resistance to treatment). In our retrospective cohort, this information was only available for a proportion of the cohort. Sufficient MRI follow-up was only available for approximately a fourth of the included patients, and therefore not applicable as an end-point in most of the analyses. Preoperative tumour volume, invasiveness and information on residual tumour would improve the data presented in the studies substantially. Composite end-points like reintervention (both radiation and surgery) and time to reintervention, were used as variables of aggressiveness. These are clinically relevant end-points, but they are depending on several factors not necessarily related to the growth potential of the tumours. In an attempt to adjust for this, reintervention taking place less than 12 months after primary surgery was not included as part of the primary intervention.

In Paper 2, the same investigator, in agreement with an experienced neuroradiologist, performed all volume estimates. However, the variability of the measures was not formally investigated. The intra- and inter-rater

variability of postoperative investigations have not been previously investigated in clinically NFPAs. The manual summary of slices method is to date the best available method of investigating volumes.

We dichotomized between women over and under 51 years, according to the mean age for menopause in Paper 3, due to lack of exact clinical information concerning this (166). The exact time for menopause is difficult to obtain in this group of patients due to potential pituitary deficiency.

Lack of normal material is in general a challenge in the study of PAs, due to the size of the organ, location of the pituitary and the heterogeneity of the pituitary tissue. The study of transformation from normal to tumourous tissue demands knowledge on the normal phenotype.

## Main Conclusions

Reference genes should be determined specifically for the experiments performed and tissue investigated. We found the combination of ALAS1 and GAPDH to serve as the most stable reference genes for clinically NFPAs, while PSMC4 together with GAPDH served as the best reference gene combination for functioning corticotroph and somatotroph adenomas.

Growth rate seem to stay constant or decelerate with time in clinically NFPAs, hence TVDT may serve as a tool to predict a conservative and safe follow-up for most NFPAs. The tumours with the shortest initial TVDT are more likely to decelerate their growth rate during the follow-up, and hence less likely to need reintervention.

Somatostatin Receptor 3 is highly expressed across the different immunohistochemical subtypes of clinically NFPAs. The other SSTRs investigated showed a low or moderate expression, which also was subtype specific. The presence of ER $\alpha$  is associated with reintervention in male patients with gonadotroph adenomas. The combination of young age and absence of ER $\alpha$  may serve as a prognostic marker for reintervention in male patients with gonadotroph adenomas.

The expression of N-cadherin is high, while the expression of the extracellular domain of E-cadherin is low in gonadotroph adenomas. The presence of nuclear E-cadherin is strongly associated with a low membranous staining for the intracellular domain of E-cadherin. Absence of nuclear staining for E-cadherin is related to a higher rate of reintervention in gonadotroph adenomas.

## Future perspectives

The studies of clinically NFPAs are characterized by a lack of well-defined study groups and end-points. The diagnostic tools have improved and changed during the last decades, and consequently there is a need for updated information. With the mapping of reference genes and development of methods for investigating tumour growth, the survey basis for upcoming studies is more easily accessible. We have already initiated a comprehensive systematic prospective study, planned to validate the hypotheses made in the work presented here.

In the presented studies, we have tested out robust end-points of aggressiveness like TVDT and growth pattern. Held together with preoperative information on invasiveness and clinical information this will enable us to better distinguish between aggressive and non-aggressive tumours, in accordance with the guidelines on aggressive PAs (26).

A large cohort of clinically NFPAs with systematic inclusion of patients followed postoperatively with MRI at fixed time points will give us valid information on postoperative growth patterns and TVDT. The growth patterns and growth rate held together with data from analyses made on preoperative MRI, blood samples and tumour tissue from primary surgery, will give us the opportunity to search for biomarkers prognosticating a clinical aggressive course. Reliable prognostic markers of aggressiveness are long awaited in caring for this patient group.

The tumour receptors may potentially serve as targets for medical treatment. Medication that potentially can reduce tumour volume or inhibit further tumour growth will aid the neurosurgeons in curing the

patients and/or potentially reduce the need for surgery. SSTR3 points out as one of the interesting receptors to stimulate and silence in further in vitro studies. In addition, the stimulation and knockdown of ER $\alpha$  in gonadotroph tumours will be of great interest for future cell studies.

We found a gender specific link between ER $\alpha$  and rate of reintervention in clinically non-functioning gonadotroph adenomas in Paper 3 and presence of nuclear staining for the intracellular domain of E-cadherin and reintervention in clinically non-functioning gonadotroph adenomas in Paper 4. Previous studies in different types of epithelial tumours have associated the process of EMT with ER $\alpha$ -function (167-170). Whether there is a link between ER $\alpha$  and EMT in gonadotroph PAs needs exploration through in vitro studies.

The results presented on E- and N-cadherins and on SSTRs in Paper 3 and 4 differ from some previous studies of functioning pituitary adenomas. Possible mechanisms for silencing of hormone producing tumour cells will be of great interest to explore in vitro. The results of such studies might give valuable information applicable to both functioning and non-functioning pituitary adenomas, and possibly other endocrine tumours.

## <u>References</u>

Sobotta Atlas of Human Anatomy. 13th ed. Munich: Urban & Fischer;
2001.

2. Stanfield JP. The blood supply of the human pituitary gland. Journal of anatomy. 1960;94:257-73.

3. Larkin S, Ansorge O. Development and Microscopic Anatomy of the Pituitary Gland. In: De Groot LJ, Chrousos G, Dungan K, Feingold KR, Grossman A, Hershman JM, et al., editors. Endotext. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc.; 2000.

4. Di Ieva A, Rotondo F, Syro LV, Cusimano MD, Kovacs K. Aggressive pituitary adenomas--diagnosis and emerging treatments. Nature reviews Endocrinology. 2014;10(7):423-35.

5. Dolecek TA, Propp JM, Stroup NE, Kruchko C. CBTRUS statistical report: primary brain and central nervous system tumors diagnosed in the United States in 2005-2009. Neuro-oncology. 2012;14 Suppl 5:v1-49.

6. Ezzat S, Asa SL, Couldwell WT, Barr CE, Dodge WE, Vance ML, et al. The prevalence of pituitary adenomas: a systematic review. Cancer. 2004;101(3):613-9.

7. Agustsson TT, Baldvinsdottir T, Jonasson JG, Olafsdottir E, Steinthorsdottir V, Sigurdsson G, et al. The epidemiology of pituitary adenomas in Iceland, 1955-2012: a nationwide population-based study. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies. 2015;173(5):655-64.

8. Covington MF, Chin SS, Osborn AG. Pituicytoma, spindle cell oncocytoma, and granular cell tumor: clarification and meta-analysis of the world literature since 1893. AJNR American journal of neuroradiology. 2011;32(11):2067-72.

9. Mayson SE, Snyder PJ. Silent pituitary adenomas. Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America. 2015;44(1):79-87.

10. Tjornstrand A, Gunnarsson K, Evert M, Holmberg E, Ragnarsson O, Rosen T, et al. The incidence rate of pituitary adenomas in western Sweden for the period 2001-2011. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies. 2014;171(4):519-26.
11. Nishioka H, Inoshita N, Mete O, Asa SL, Hayashi K, Takeshita A, et al. The Complementary Role of Transcription Factors in the Accurate Diagnosis of Clinically Nonfunctioning Pituitary Adenomas. Endocrine pathology. 2015;26(4):349-55.

12. Saeger W, Ludecke DK, Buchfelder M, Fahlbusch R, Quabbe HJ, Petersenn S. Pathohistological classification of pituitary tumors: 10 years of experience with the German Pituitary Tumor Registry. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies. 2007;156(2):203-16.

13. Daly AF, Rixhon M, Adam C, Dempegioti A, Tichomirowa MA, Beckers A. High prevalence of pituitary adenomas: a cross-sectional study in the province of Liege, Belgium. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2006;91(12):4769-75.

14. Ferrante E, Ferraroni M, Castrignano T, Menicatti L, Anagni M, Reimondo G, et al. Non-functioning pituitary adenoma database: a useful resource to improve the clinical management of pituitary tumors. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies. 2006;155(6):823-9.

15. Iglesias P, Arcano K, Trivino V, Garcia-Sancho P, Diez JJ, Villabona C, et al. Prevalence, Clinical Features, and Natural History of Incidental Clinically Non-Functioning Pituitary Adenomas. Hormone and metabolic research = Hormon- und Stoffwechselforschung = Hormones et metabolisme. 2017;49(9):654-9.

16. Castinetti F, Dufour H, Gaillard S, Jouanneau E, Vasiljevic A, Villa C, et al. Non-functioning pituitary adenoma: when and how to operate? What pathologic criteria for typing? Ann Endocrinol (Paris). 2015;76(3):220-7.

17. Gittoes NJ, Bates AS, Tse W, Bullivant B, Sheppard MC, Clayton RN, et al. Radiotherapy for non-function pituitary tumours. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 1998;48(3):331-7.

18. Ntali G, Karavitaki N. Efficacy and complications of pituitary irradiation. Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America. 2015;44(1):117-26.

19. Freda PU, Beckers AM, Katznelson L, Molitch ME, Montori VM, Post KD, et al. Pituitary incidentaloma: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2011;96(4):894-904.

20. Greenman Y. MANAGEMENT OF ENDOCRINE DISEASE: Present and future perspectives for medical therapy of nonfunctioning pituitary adenomas. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies. 2017;177(3):R113-r24.

21. Losa M, Mortini P, Barzaghi R, Ribotto P, Terreni MR, Marzoli SB, et al. Early results of surgery in patients with nonfunctioning pituitary adenoma and analysis of the risk of tumor recurrence. J Neurosurg. 2008;108(3):525-32.

22. Chen Y, Wang CD, Su ZP, Chen YX, Cai L, Zhuge QC, et al. Natural history of postoperative nonfunctioning pituitary adenomas: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;96(4):333-42.

23. Reddy R, Cudlip S, Byrne JV, Karavitaki N, Wass JA. Can we ever stop imaging in surgically treated and radiotherapy-naive patients with non-functioning pituitary adenoma? European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies. 2011;165(5):739-44.

24. Tampourlou M, Ntali G, Ahmed S, Arlt W, Ayuk J, Byrne JV, et al. Outcome of Nonfunctioning Pituitary Adenomas That Regrow After Primary Treatment: A Study From Two Large UK Centers. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2017;102(6):1889-97.

25. Roelfsema F, Biermasz NR, Pereira AM. Clinical factors involved in the recurrence of pituitary adenomas after surgical remission: a structured review and meta-analysis. Pituitary. 2012;15(1):71-83.

26. Raverot G, Burman P, McCormack AI, Heaney AP, Petersenn S, Popovic V, et al. European Society of Endocrinology clinical practice guidelines for the management of aggressive pituitary tumours and carcinomas. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies. 2017.

27. Tanaka Y, Hongo K, Tada T, Sakai K, Kakizawa Y, Kobayashi S. Growth pattern and rate in residual nonfunctioning pituitary adenomas: correlations among tumor volume doubling time, patient age, and MIB-1 index. J Neurosurg. 2003;98(2):359-65.

28. Monsalves E, Larjani S, Loyola Godoy B, Juraschka K, Carvalho F, Kucharczyk W, et al. Growth patterns of pituitary adenomas and histopathological correlates. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2014;99(4):1330-8.

29. Honegger J, Zimmermann S, Psaras T, Petrick M, Mittelbronn M, Ernemann U, et al. Growth modelling of non-functioning pituitary adenomas in patients referred for surgery. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies. 2008;158(3):287-94.

30. Brochier S, Galland F, Kujas M, Parker F, Gaillard S, Raftopoulos C, et al. Factors predicting relapse of nonfunctioning pituitary macroadenomas after neurosurgery: a study of 142 patients. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies. 2010;163(2):193-200.

31. Karamouzis I, Berardelli R, Prencipe N, Berton A, Bona C, Stura G, et al. Retrospective observational analysis of non-irradiated non-functioning pituitary adenomas. J Endocrinol Invest. 2015;38(11):1191-7.

32. DeLellis R LR, Heitz P. World Health Organization Classification of Tumours: Tumours of Endocrine Organs. Lyon: IARC PRess; 2004.

33. Ragel BT, Couldwell WT. Pituitary carcinoma: a review of the literature. Neurosurgical focus. 2004;16(4):E7.

34. Bonneville JF, Bonneville F, Barrali E, Jacquet G, Cattin F. Magnetic Resonance Imaging of the Pituitary Area: Pathologic Aspects. In: De Herder WW, editor. Functional and Morphological Imaging of the Endocrine System. Boston: Springer US; 2000. p. 3-33.

35. Lenders N, Ikeuchi S, Russell AW, Ho KK, Prins JB, Inder WJ. Longitudinal evaluation of the natural history of conservatively managed non-functioning pituitary adenomas. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2015.

36. Nishioka H, Inoshita N, Sano T, Fukuhara N, Yamada S. Correlation between histological subtypes and MRI findings in clinically nonfunctioning pituitary adenomas. Endocrine pathology. 2012;23(3):151-6.

37. Knosp E, Steiner E, Kitz K, Matula C. Pituitary adenomas with invasion of the cavernous sinus space: a magnetic resonance imaging classification compared with surgical findings. Neurosurgery. 1993;33(4):610-7; discussion 7-8.

38. Micko AS, Wohrer A, Wolfsberger S, Knosp E. Invasion of the cavernous sinus space in pituitary adenomas: endoscopic verification and its correlation with an MRI-based classification. J Neurosurg. 2015;122(4):803-11.

39. Hardy J. Transphenoidal microsurgery of the normal and pathological pituitary. Clinical neurosurgery. 1969;16:185-217.

40. Trouillas J, Roy P, Sturm N, Dantony E, Cortet-Rudelli C, Viennet G, et al. A new prognostic clinicopathological classification of pituitary adenomas: a multicentric case-control study of 410 patients with 8 years post-operative follow-up. Acta neuropathologica. 2013;126(1):123-35.

41. Osamura RY, Grossman A, Korbonits M, Kovacs K, Lopes MB, Matsuno A, et al. Tumours of the pituitary gland. In: Lloyd RV, Osamura RY, Klöppel G, Rosai J, editors. WHO Classification of TUmours of Endocrine Organs. 4th ed. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC); 2017. p. 11-63.

42. Cooper O, Ben-Shlomo A, Bonert V, Bannykh S, Mirocha J, Melmed S. Silent corticogonadotroph adenomas: clinical and cellular characteristics and long-term outcomes. Hormones & cancer. 2010;1(2):80-92.

43. Yamada S, Ohyama K, Taguchi M, Takeshita A, Morita K, Takano K, et al. A study of the correlation between morphological findings and biological activities in clinically nonfunctioning pituitary adenomas. Neurosurgery. 2007;61(3):580-4; discussion 4-5.

44. Nose V, Ezzat S, Horvath E, Kovacs K, Laws ER, Lloyd R, et al. Protocol for the examination of specimens from patients with primary pituitary tumors. Archives of pathology & laboratory medicine. 2011;135(5):640-6.

45. Asa SL, Bamberger AM, Cao B, Wong M, Parker KL, Ezzat S. The transcription activator steroidogenic factor-1 is preferentially expressed in the human pituitary gonadotroph. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 1996;81(6):2165-70.

46. Lamolet B, Pulichino AM, Lamonerie T, Gauthier Y, Brue T, Enjalbert A, et al. A pituitary cell-restricted T box factor, Tpit, activates POMC transcription in cooperation with Pitx homeoproteins. Cell. 2001;104(6):849-59.

47. Simmons DM, Voss JW, Ingraham HA, Holloway JM, Broide RS, Rosenfeld MG, et al. Pituitary cell phenotypes involve cell-specific Pit-1 mRNA translation and synergistic interactions with other classes of transcription factors. Genes & development. 1990;4(5):695-711.

48. Chiloiro S, Doglietto F, Trapasso B, Iacovazzo D, Giampietro A, Di Nardo F, et al. Typical and atypical pituitary adenomas: a single-center analysis of outcome and prognosis. Neuroendocrinology. 2015;101(2):143-50.

49. Rodriguez-Brenes IA, Komarova NL, Wodarz D. Tumor growth dynamics: insights into evolutionary processes. Trends in ecology & evolution. 2013;28(10):597-604.

50. Balogun JA, Monsalves E, Juraschka K, Parvez K, Kucharczyk W, Mete O, et al. Null Cell Adenomas of the Pituitary Gland: an Institutional Review of Their Clinical Imaging and Behavioral Characteristics. Endocrine pathology. 2014.

51. Hsu CY, Guo WY, Chien CP, Ho DM. MIB-1 labeling index correlated with magnetic resonance imaging detected tumor volume doubling time in pituitary adenoma. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies. 2010;162(6):1027-33.

52. Ben-Shlomo A, Melmed S. Pituitary somatostatin receptor signaling. Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM. 2010;21(3):123-33.

53. Asa SL, Ezzat S. Molecular determinants of pituitary cytodifferentiation. Pituitary. 1999;1(3-4):159-68.

54. Katznelson L, Laws ER, Jr., Melmed S, Molitch ME, Murad MH, Utz A, et al. Acromegaly: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2014;99(11):3933-51.

55. Nieman LK, Biller BM, Findling JW, Murad MH, Newell-Price J, Savage MO, et al. Treatment of Cushing's Syndrome: An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2015;100(8):2807-31.

56. Kuhn JM, Arlot S, Lefebvre H, Caron P, Cortet-Rudelli C, Archambaud F, et al. Evaluation of the treatment of thyrotropin-secreting pituitary adenomas with a slow release formulation of the somatostatin analog lanreotide. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2000;85(4):1487-91.

57. Melmed S, Casanueva FF, Hoffman AR, Kleinberg DL, Montori VM, Schlechte JA, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of hyperprolactinemia: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2011;96(2):273-88.

58. Law SF, Manning D, Reisine T. Identification of the subunits of GTPbinding proteins coupled to somatostatin receptors. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1991;266(27):17885-97.

59. Panetta R, Patel YC. Expression of mRNA for all five human somatostatin receptors (hSSTR1-5) in pituitary tumors. Life sciences. 1995;56(5):333-42.

60. Lee M, Lupp A, Mendoza N, Martin N, Beschorner R, Honegger J, et al. SSTR3 is a putative target for the medical treatment of gonadotroph adenomas of the pituitary. Endocrine-related cancer. 2015;22(1):111-9.

61. Nishioka H, Tamura K, Iida H, Kutsukake M, Endo A, Ikeda Y, et al. Co-expression of somatostatin receptor subtypes and estrogen receptor-alpha mRNAs by non-functioning pituitary adenomas in young patients. Molecular and cellular endocrinology. 2011;331(1):73-8.

62. Ramirez C, Cheng S, Vargas G, Asa SL, Ezzat S, Gonzalez B, et al. Expression of Ki-67, PTTG1, FGFR4, and SSTR 2, 3, and 5 in nonfunctioning pituitary adenomas: a high throughput TMA, immunohistochemical study. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2012;97(5):1745-51.

63. Florio T, Morini M, Villa V, Arena S, Corsaro A, Thellung S, et al. Somatostatin inhibits tumor angiogenesis and growth via somatostatin receptor-3-mediated regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase and mitogen-activated protein kinase activities. Endocrinology. 2003;144(4):1574-84.

64. War SA, Kim B, Kumar U. Human somatostatin receptor-3 distinctively induces apoptosis in MCF-7 and cell cycle arrest in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. Molecular and cellular endocrinology. 2015;413:129-44.

65. Ben-Shlomo A, Pichurin O, Barshop NJ, Wawrowsky KA, Taylor J, Culler MD, et al. Selective regulation of somatostatin receptor subtype signaling: evidence for constitutive receptor activation. Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md). 2007;21(10):2565-78.

66. Bruns C, Lewis I, Briner U, Meno-Tetang G, Weckbecker G. SOM230: a novel somatostatin peptidomimetic with broad somatotropin release inhibiting factor (SRIF) receptor binding and a unique antisecretory profile. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies. 2002;146(5):707-16. 67. Giustina A, Mazziotti G, Torri V, Spinello M, Floriani I, Melmed S. Meta-analysis on the effects of octreotide on tumor mass in acromegaly. PloS one. 2012;7(5):e36411.

68. Howlett TA, Willis D, Walker G, Wass JA, Trainer PJ, Group UKARS. Control of growth hormone and IGF1 in patients with acromegaly in the UK: responses to medical treatment with somatostatin analogues and dopamine agonists. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2013;79(5):689-99.

69. Batista DL, Zhang X, Gejman R, Ansell PJ, Zhou Y, Johnson SA, et al. The effects of SOM230 on cell proliferation and adrenocorticotropin secretion in human corticotroph pituitary adenomas. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2006;91(11):4482-8.

70. Thodou E, Kontogeorgos G, Theodossiou D, Pateraki M. Mapping of somatostatin receptor types in GH or/and PRL producing pituitary adenomas. Journal of clinical pathology. 2006;59(3):274-9.

71. Chinezu L, Vasiljevic A, Jouanneau E, Francois P, Borda A, Trouillas J, et al. Expression of somatostatin receptors, SSTR2A and SSTR5, in 108 endocrine pituitary tumors using immunohistochemical detection with new specific monoclonal antibodies. Hum Pathol. 2014;45(1):71-7.

72. Fusco A, Giampietro A, Bianchi A, Cimino V, Lugli F, Piacentini S, et al. Treatment with octreotide LAR in clinically non-functioning pituitary adenoma: results from a case-control study. Pituitary. 2012;15(4):571-8.

73. Colao A, Di Somma C, Pivonello R, Faggiano A, Lombardi G, Savastano S. Medical therapy for clinically non-functioning pituitary adenomas. Endocrine-related cancer. 2008;15(4):905-15.

74. Jia M, Dahlman-Wright K, Gustafsson JA. Estrogen receptor alpha and beta in health and disease. Best practice & research Clinical endocrinology & metabolism. 2015;29(4):557-68.

75. Grimm SL, Hartig SM, Edwards DP. Progesterone Receptor Signaling Mechanisms. Journal of molecular biology. 2016;428(19):3831-49.

76. Press MF, Greene GL. Localization of progesterone receptor with monoclonal antibodies to the human progestin receptor. Endocrinology. 1988;122(3):1165-75.

77. Zafar M, Ezzat S, Ramyar L, Pan N, Smyth HS, Asa SL. Cell-specific expression of estrogen receptor in the human pituitary and its adenomas. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 1995;80(12):3621-7.

78. Miller MM, McMullen PD, Andersen ME, Clewell RA. Multiple receptors shape the estrogen response pathway and are critical considerations for the future of in vitro-based risk assessment efforts. Critical reviews in toxicology. 2017;47(7):564-80.

79. Delgrange E, Vasiljevic A, Wierinckx A, Francois P, Jouanneau E, Raverot G, et al. Expression of estrogen receptor alpha is associated with prolactin pituitary tumor prognosis and supports the sex-related difference in tumor growth. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies. 2015;172(6):791-801.

80. Mishra S, Tai Q, Gu X, Schmitz J, Poullard A, Fajardo RJ, et al. Estrogen and estrogen receptor alpha promotes malignancy and osteoblastic tumorigenesis in prostate cancer. Oncotarget. 2015;6(42):44388-402.

81. Doan TB, Graham JD, Clarke CL. Emerging functional roles of nuclear receptors in breast cancer. Journal of molecular endocrinology. 2017;58(3):R169-r90.

82. Manoranjan B, Salehi F, Scheithauer BW, Rotondo F, Kovacs K, Cusimano MD. Estrogen receptors alpha and beta immunohistochemical expression: clinicopathological correlations in pituitary adenomas. Anticancer research. 2010;30(7):2897-904.

83. Pereira-Lima JF, Marroni CP, Pizarro CB, Barbosa-Coutinho LM, Ferreira NP, Oliveira MC. Immunohistochemical detection of estrogen receptor alpha in pituitary adenomas and its correlation with cellular replication. Neuroendocrinology. 2004;79(3):119-24.

84. Zhou W, Song Y, Xu H, Zhou K, Zhang W, Chen J, et al. In nonfunctional pituitary adenomas, estrogen receptors and slug contribute to development of invasiveness. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2011;96(8):E1237-45.

85. Kowalik MK, Rekawiecki R, Kotwica J. The putative roles of nuclear and membrane-bound progesterone receptors in the female reproductive tract. Reproductive biology. 2013;13(4):279-89.

86. Fougner SL, Lekva T, Borota OC, Hald JK, Bollerslev J, Berg JP. The expression of E-cadherin in somatotroph pituitary adenomas is related to

tumor size, invasiveness, and somatostatin analog response. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2010;95(5):2334-42.

87. Evang JA, Berg JP, Casar-Borota O, Lekva T, Kringen MK, Ramm-Pettersen J, et al. Reduced levels of E-cadherin correlate with progression of corticotroph pituitary tumours. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2011;75(6):811-8.

88. Guarino M, Rubino B, Ballabio G. The role of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cancer pathology. Pathology. 2007;39(3):305-18.

89. Gheldof A, Berx G. Cadherins and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Progress in molecular biology and translational science. 2013;116:317-36.

90. Qian ZR, Sano T, Yoshimoto K, Asa SL, Yamada S, Mizusawa N, et al. Tumor-specific downregulation and methylation of the CDH13 (H-cadherin) and CDH1 (E-cadherin) genes correlate with aggressiveness of human pituitary adenomas. Modern pathology : an official journal of the United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology, Inc. 2007;20(12):1269-77.

91. Ferber EC, Kajita M, Wadlow A, Tobiansky L, Niessen C, Ariga H, et al. A role for the cleaved cytoplasmic domain of E-cadherin in the nucleus. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2008;283(19):12691-700.

92. de Beco S, Amblard F, Coscoy S. New insights into the regulation of Ecadherin distribution by endocytosis. International review of cell and molecular biology. 2012;295:63-108.

93. Elston MS, Gill AJ, Conaglen JV, Clarkson A, Cook RJ, Little NS, et al. Nuclear accumulation of e-cadherin correlates with loss of cytoplasmic membrane staining and invasion in pituitary adenomas. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2009;94(4):1436-42.

94. Keck B, Wach S, Kunath F, Bertz S, Taubert H, Lehmann J, et al. Nuclear E-cadherin expression is associated with the loss of membranous Ecadherin, plasmacytoid differentiation and reduced overall survival in urothelial carcinoma of the bladder. Annals of surgical oncology. 2013;20(7):2440-5.

95. Chauvet N, Romano N, Meunier AC, Galibert E, Fontanaud P, Mathieu MN, et al. Combining Cadherin Expression with Molecular Markers Discriminates Invasiveness in Growth Hormone and Prolactin Pituitary Adenomas. Journal of neuroendocrinology. 2016;28(2):12352.

96. Zhou K, Jin H, Luo Y. Expression and significance of E-cadherin and beta-catenins in pituitary adenoma. International journal of surgical pathology. 2013;21(4):363-7.

97. Wheelock MJ, Shintani Y, Maeda M, Fukumoto Y, Johnson KR. Cadherin switching. Journal of cell science. 2008;121(Pt 6):727-35.

98. Tsuchiya B, Sato Y, Kameya T, Okayasu I, Mukai K. Differential expression of N-cadherin and E-cadherin in normal human tissues. Archives of histology and cytology. 2006;69(2):135-45.

99. Rubinek T, Yu R, Hadani M, Barkai G, Nass D, Melmed S, et al. The cell adhesion molecules N-cadherin and neural cell adhesion molecule regulate human growth hormone: a novel mechanism for regulating pituitary hormone secretion. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2003;88(8):3724-30.

100. Casar-Borota O, Fougner SL, Bollerslev J, Nesland JM. KIT protein expression and mutational status of KIT gene in pituitary adenomas. Virchows Archiv : an international journal of pathology. 2012;460(2):171-81.

101. Mullis KB, Faloona FA. Specific synthesis of DNA in vitro via a polymerase-catalyzed chain reaction. Methods in enzymology. 1987;155:335-50.

102. Rappolee DA, Mark D, Banda MJ, Werb Z. Wound macrophages express TGF-alpha and other growth factors in vivo: analysis by mRNA phenotyping. Science (New York, NY). 1988;241(4866):708-12.

103. Higuchi R, Fockler C, Dollinger G, Watson R. Kinetic PCR analysis: real-time monitoring of DNA amplification reactions. Bio/technology (Nature Publishing Company). 1993;11(9):1026-30.

104. Schroeder A, Mueller O, Stocker S, Salowsky R, Leiber M, Gassmann M, et al. The RIN: an RNA integrity number for assigning integrity values to RNA measurements. BMC molecular biology. 2006;7:3.

105. Prime-Blast [online database]: Bethestda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US), National Center for Biotechnology Information [Internet].

. [cited 01.01.2016]. Available from: https://<u>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/tools/primer-blast/</u>. 106. Bustin SA. Absolute quantification of mRNA using real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction assays. Journal of molecular endocrinology. 2000;25(2):169-93.

107. Ririe KM, Rasmussen RP, Wittwer CT. Product differentiation by analysis of DNA melting curves during the polymerase chain reaction. Analytical biochemistry. 1997;245(2):154-60.

108. Schmittgen TD, Livak KJ. Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative C(T) method. Nature protocols. 2008;3(6):1101-8.

109. Bustin SA, Benes V, Garson JA, Hellemans J, Huggett J, Kubista M, et al. The MIQE guidelines: minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments. Clinical chemistry. 2009;55(4):611-22.

110. Bujko M, Rusetska N, Mikula M. Validating candidate reference genes for qRT-PCR-based gene expression analysis in nonfunctioning pituitary adenomas. Pituitary. 2015.

111. Coons AH, Kaplan MH. Localization of antigen in tissue cells; improvements in a method for the detection of antigen by means of fluorescent antibody. The Journal of experimental medicine. 1950;91(1):1-13.

112. Taylor CR, SHI S-R. Techniques of Immunohistochemistry: Principles,
Pitfalls, And Standardization. In: J. DD, editor. Diagnostic
Immunohistochemistry: Theranostic and genomic applications. 4th ed.
Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders; 2014. p. 1-38.

113. Saper CB. A guide to the perplexed on the specificity of antibodies. The journal of histochemistry and cytochemistry : official journal of the Histochemistry Society. 2009;57(1):1-5.

114. Kononen J, Bubendorf L, Kallioniemi A, Barlund M, Schraml P, Leighton S, et al. Tissue microarrays for high-throughput molecular profiling of tumor specimens. Nature medicine. 1998;4(7):844-7.

115. Torhorst J, Bucher C, Kononen J, Haas P, Zuber M, Kochli OR, et al. Tissue microarrays for rapid linking of molecular changes to clinical endpoints. The American journal of pathology. 2001;159(6):2249-56.

116. Camp RL, Neumeister V, Rimm DL. A decade of tissue microarrays: progress in the discovery and validation of cancer biomarkers. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2008;26(34):5630-7.

117. Remmele W, Stegner HE. [Recommendation for uniform definition of an immunoreactive score (IRS) for immunohistochemical estrogen receptor detection (ER-ICA) in breast cancer tissue]. Der Pathologe. 1987;8(3):138-40.

118. Casar-Borota O, Heck A, Schulz S, Nesland JM, Ramm-Pettersen J, Lekva T, et al. Expression of SSTR2a, but not of SSTRs 1, 3, or 5 in somatotroph adenomas assessed by monoclonal antibodies was reduced by octreotide and correlated with the acute and long-term effects of octreotide. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2013;98(11):E1730-9.

119. Kaemmerer D, Peter L, Lupp A, Schulz S, Sanger J, Prasad V, et al. Molecular imaging with (6)(8)Ga-SSTR PET/CT and correlation to immunohistochemistry of somatostatin receptors in neuroendocrine tumours. European journal of nuclear medicine and molecular imaging. 2011;38(9):1659-68.

120. Sjostedt E, Bollerslev J, Mulder J, Lindskog C, Ponten F, Casar-Borota O. A specific antibody to detect transcription factor T-Pit: a reliable marker of corticotroph cell differentiation and a tool to improve the classification of pituitary neuroendocrine tumours. Acta neuropathologica. 2017.

121. Lupp A, Nagel F, Schulz S. Reevaluation of sst(1) somatostatin receptor expression in human normal and neoplastic tissues using the novel rabbit monoclonal antibody UMB-7. Regulatory peptides. 2013;183:1-6.

122. Liu W, Xie L, He M, Shen M, Zhu J, Yang Y, et al. Expression of Somatostatin Receptor 2 in Somatotropinoma Correlated with the Short-Term Efficacy of Somatostatin Analogues. International journal of endocrinology. 2017;2017:9606985.

123. Lewis-Tuffin LJ, Rodriguez F, Giannini C, Scheithauer B, Necela BM, Sarkaria JN, et al. Misregulated E-cadherin expression associated with an aggressive brain tumor phenotype. PloS one. 2010;5(10):e13665.

124. BD Bioscience. Purified Mouse Anti-E-Cadherin 2017 [29.11.2017]. Available from: <u>http://www.bdbiosciences.com/eu/applications/research/stem-cell-research/cancer-research/human/purified-mouse-anti-e-cadherin-36e-cadherin/p/610181</u>.

125. Paredes J, Figueiredo J, Albergaria A, Oliveira P, Carvalho J, Ribeiro AS, et al. Epithelial E- and P-cadherins: role and clinical significance in cancer. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2012;1826(2):297-311.

126. Ito Y. Unexpected enlargement of clinically silent pituitary gonadotroph adenoma induced by goserelin acetate given as treatment for prostate cancer. International journal of urology : official journal of the Japanese Urological Association. 2011;18(1):83-4.

127. Steinhusen U, Weiske J, Badock V, Tauber R, Bommert K, Huber O. Cleavage and shedding of E-cadherin after induction of apoptosis. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2001;276(7):4972-80.

128. Berkhout M, Gosens MJ, Brouwer KM, Peters WH, Nagengast FM, van Krieken JH, et al. Loss of extracellular E-cadherin in the normal mucosa of duodenum and colon of patients with familial adenomatous polyposis. Hum Pathol. 2006;37(11):1389-99.

129. Varughese JK, Wentzel-Larsen T, Vassbotn F, Moen G, Lund-Johansen M. Analysis of vestibular schwannoma size in multiple dimensions: a comparative cohort study of different measurement techniques. Clinical otolaryngology : official journal of ENT-UK ; official journal of Netherlands Society for Oto-Rhino-Laryngology & Cervico-Facial Surgery. 2010;35(2):97-103.

130. Kirfel B. [Bonaventura Francis Cavalieri]: University of Bergen;
[30.11.2017]. Available from: https://www.matematikk.org/biografi.html?tid=68742.

131. Gundersen HJ, Bendtsen TF, Korbo L, Marcussen N, Moller A, Nielsen K, et al. Some new, simple and efficient stereological methods and their use in pathological research and diagnosis. APMIS : acta pathologica, microbiologica, et immunologica Scandinavica. 1988;96(5):379-94.

132. Ringstad GA, Emblem KE, Holland D, Dale AM, Bjornerud A, Hald JK. Assessment of pituitary adenoma volumetric change using longitudinal MR image registration. Neuroradiology. 2012;54(5):435-43.

133. Akaike H. Information Theory and an Extension of the Maximum Likelihood Principle. In: Kotz S, Johnson NL, editors. Breakthroughs in Statistics: Foundations and Basic Theory. New York, NY: Springer New York; 1992. p. 610-24.

134. Schwartz M. A biomathematical approach to clinical tumor growth. Cancer. 1961;14:1272-94.

135. Jaquet P, Ouafik L, Saveanu A, Gunz G, Fina F, Dufour H, et al. Quantitative and functional expression of somatostatin receptor subtypes in human prolactinomas. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 1999;84(9):3268-76.

136. Lekva T, Berg JP, Fougner SL, Olstad OK, Ueland T, Bollerslev J. Gene expression profiling identifies ESRP1 as a potential regulator of epithelial mesenchymal transition in somatotroph adenomas from a large cohort of patients with acromegaly. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2012;97(8):E1506-14.

137. van Rijn SJ, Riemers FM, van den Heuvel D, Wolfswinkel J, Hofland L, Meij BP, et al. Expression stability of reference genes for quantitative RT-PCR of healthy and diseased pituitary tissue samples varies between humans, mice, and dogs. Molecular neurobiology. 2014;49(2):893-9.

138. Collins VP, Loeffler RK, Tivey H. Observations on growth rates of human tumors. The American journal of roentgenology, radium therapy, and nuclear medicine. 1956;76(5):988-1000.

139. Oystese KA, Evang JA, Bollerslev J. Non-functioning pituitary adenomas: growth and aggressiveness. Endocrine. 2016;53(1):28-34.

140. Stensjoen AL, Solheim O, Kvistad KA, Haberg AK, Salvesen O, Berntsen EM. Growth dynamics of untreated glioblastomas in vivo. Neuro-oncology. 2015;17(10):1402-11.

141. Cooper O, Melmed S. Subclinical hyperfunctioning pituitary adenomas: the silent tumors. Best practice & research Clinical endocrinology & metabolism. 2012;26(4):447-60.

142. Baldeweg SE, Pollock JR, Powell M, Ahlquist J. A spectrum of behaviour in silent corticotroph pituitary adenomas. British journal of neurosurgery. 2005;19(1):38-42.

143. Brown RL, Muzzafar T, Wollman R, Weiss RE. A pituitary carcinoma secreting TSH and prolactin: a non-secreting adenoma gone awry. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies. 2006;154(5):639-43.

144. Batisse M, Raverot G, Maqdasy S, Durando X, Sturm N, Montoriol PF, et al. Aggressive silent GH pituitary tumor resistant to multiple treatments, including temozolomide. Cancer investigation. 2013;31(3):190-6.

145. Gabalec F, Drastikova M, Cesak T, Netuka D, Masopust V, Machac J, et al. Dopamine 2 and somatostatin 1-5 receptors coexpression in clinically

non-functioning pituitary adenomas. Physiological research. 2015;64(3):369-77.

146. Drastikova M, Beranek M, Gabalec F, Netuka D, Masopust V, Cesak T, et al. Expression profiles of somatostatin, dopamine, and estrogen receptors in pituitary adenomas determined by means of synthetic multilocus calibrators. Biomedical papers of the Medical Faculty of the University Palacky, Olomouc, Czechoslovakia. 2015.

147. de Bruin C, Pereira AM, Feelders RA, Romijn JA, Roelfsema F, Sprij-Mooij DM, et al. Coexpression of dopamine and somatostatin receptor subtypes in corticotroph adenomas. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2009;94(4):1118-24.

148. Eigler T, Ben-Shlomo A, Zhou C, Khalafi R, Ren SG, Melmed S. Constitutive somatostatin receptor subtype-3 signaling suppresses growth hormone synthesis. Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md). 2014;28(4):554-64.

149. Ibanez-Costa A, Rivero-Cortes E, Vazquez-Borrego MC, Gahete MD, Jimenez-Reina L, Venegas-Moreno E, et al. Octreotide and pasireotide (dis)similarly inhibit pituitary tumor cells in vitro. The Journal of endocrinology. 2016;231(2):135-45.

150. Kimura N, Takamatsu N, Yaoita Y, Osamura RY, Kimura N. Identification of transcriptional regulatory elements in the human somatostatin receptor sst2 promoter and regions including estrogen response element halfsite for estrogen activation. Journal of molecular endocrinology. 2008;40(2):75-91.

151. Xu Y, Song J, Berelowitz M, Bruno JF. Estrogen regulates somatostatin receptor subtype 2 messenger ribonucleic acid expression in human breast cancer cells. Endocrinology. 1996;137(12):5634-40.

152. Delgrange E, Trouillas J, Maiter D, Donckier J, Tourniaire J. Sexrelated difference in the growth of prolactinomas: a clinical and proliferation marker study. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 1997;82(7):2102-7.

153. Gao H, Xue Y, Cao L, Liu Q, Liu C, Shan X, et al. ESR1 and its antagonist fulvestrant in pituitary adenomas. Molecular and cellular endocrinology. 2017;443:32-41.

154. Jaffrain-Rea ML, Petrangeli E, Ortolani F, Fraioli B, Lise A, Esposito V, et al. Cellular receptors for sex steroids in human pituitary adenomas. The Journal of endocrinology. 1996;151(2):175-84.

155. Caronti B, Palladini G, Bevilacqua MG, Petrangeli E, Fraioli B, Cantore G, et al. Effects of 17 beta-estradiol, progesterone and tamoxifen on in vitro proliferation of human pituitary adenomas: correlation with specific cellular receptors. Tumour biology : the journal of the International Society for Oncodevelopmental Biology and Medicine. 1993;14(1):59-68.

156. Ezzat S, Zheng L, Winer D, Asa SL. Targeting N-cadherin through fibroblast growth factor receptor-4: distinct pathogenetic and therapeutic implications. Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md). 2006;20(11):2965-75.

157. Jia W, Zhu J, Martin TA, Jiang A, Sanders AJ, Jiang WG. Epithelialmesenchymal Transition (EMT) Markers in Human Pituitary Adenomas Indicate a Clinical Course. Anticancer research. 2015;35(5):2635-43.

158. Diepenbruck M, Christofori G. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and metastasis: yes, no, maybe? Current opinion in cell biology. 2016;43:7-13.

159. Rosivatz E, Becker I, Bamba M, Schott C, Diebold J, Mayr D, et al. Neoexpression of N-cadherin in E-cadherin positive colon cancers. International journal of cancer. 2004;111(5):711-9.

160. Nagi C, Guttman M, Jaffer S, Qiao R, Keren R, Triana A, et al. N-cadherin expression in breast cancer: correlation with an aggressive histologic variant--invasive micropapillary carcinoma. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2005;94(3):225-35.

161. Nieman MT, Prudoff RS, Johnson KR, Wheelock MJ. N-cadherin promotes motility in human breast cancer cells regardless of their E-cadherin expression. The Journal of cell biology. 1999;147(3):631-44.

162. Hazan RB, Phillips GR, Qiao RF, Norton L, Aaronson SA. Exogenous expression of N-cadherin in breast cancer cells induces cell migration, invasion, and metastasis. The Journal of cell biology. 2000;148(4):779-90.

163. Ito K, Okamoto I, Araki N, Kawano Y, Nakao M, Fujiyama S, et al. Calcium influx triggers the sequential proteolysis of extracellular and cytoplasmic domains of E-cadherin, leading to loss of beta-catenin from cell-cell contacts. Oncogene. 1999;18(50):7080-90.

164. Ohishi Y, Oda Y, Kurihara S, Kaku T, Kobayashi H, Wake N, et al. Nuclear localization of E-cadherin but not beta-catenin in human ovarian granulosa cell tumours and normal ovarian follicles and ovarian stroma. Histopathology. 2011;58(3):423-32.

165. Heinrich CA, Lail-Trecker MR, Peluso JJ, White BA. Negative regulation of N-cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion by the estrogen receptor signaling pathway in rat pituitary GH3 cells. Endocrine. 1999;10(1):67-76.

166. Gjelsvik B, Rosvold EO, Straand J, Dalen I, Hunskaar S. Symptom prevalence during menopause and factors associated with symptoms and menopausal age. Results from the Norwegian Hordaland Women's Cohort study. Maturitas. 2011;70(4):383-90.

167. Bouris P, Skandalis SS, Piperigkou Z, Afratis N, Karamanou K, Aletras AJ, et al. Estrogen receptor alpha mediates epithelial to mesenchymal transition, expression of specific matrix effectors and functional properties of breast cancer cells. Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology. 2015;43:42-60.

168. Ye Y, Xiao Y, Wang W, Yearsley K, Gao JX, Shetuni B, et al. ERalpha signaling through slug regulates E-cadherin and EMT. Oncogene. 2010;29(10):1451-62.

169. Park SH, Cheung LW, Wong AS, Leung PC. Estrogen regulates Snail and Slug in the down-regulation of E-cadherin and induces metastatic potential of ovarian cancer cells through estrogen receptor alpha. Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md). 2008;22(9):2085-98.

170. Shi X, Peng Y, Du X, Liu H, Klocker H, Lin Q, et al. Estradiol promotes epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in human benign prostatic epithelial cells. The Prostate. 2017;77(14):1424-37.